
 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH 
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687 

 
 
 

Agenda 

Regular Meeting 

City of Lake Worth 

Historic Resources Preservation Board 

City Hall Commission Room  

7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL 

 

 

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 08, 2016 6:00 PM 
 

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda  
 

4. Approval of Minutes 
 
A. HRPB May 11, 2016 RM Minutes 
 
B. HRPB May 18, 2016 Workshop Minutes 
 

5. Cases 
 
A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants 
 
B. Proof of Publication 
 
C. Withdrawals/Postponements 
 
D. Consent 
 

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100102: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for an addition and in-ground pool installation for the single-family structure 
located at 212 Vanderbilt Drive; PCN# 38434415070006850.  The subject property 
was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource within the College Park 
Local Historic District. 

 
2. HRPB Project Number 16-00100100: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for a rear screen porch addition to the single family residence located at 404 
South L Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-157-0150. The subject property was constructed 
c.1935 and is a contributing resource within the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 



June 8, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

 
E. Public Hearings 
 

1. Board Disclosure 
 

2. HRPB Project Number 15-00100134: Consideration of a Revision to a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for construction of a new single-family residence at the subject 
property located at 313 North Palmway; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-098-0130. The subject 
property is located within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
3. HRPB Project Number 14-00100132 and 14-01400006: Consideration of a Revision to 

an approved Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) and Minor Site Plan Amendment for 
construction of a new enclosed covered sports pavilion at the subject property located 
at 402-410 North M Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-108-0010. The subject property is 
located within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
4. HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for new construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South 
Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District.  Staff is requesting a continuance for this case. 

 
F. Unfinished Business 
 
G. New Business 
 

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100098: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for window replacement for the subject property located at 720 North Federal 
Highway; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-224-0050. The subject building was constructed in 
1948 and the property is a contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 

 
2. HRPB Project Number 16-00100108: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for window replacement for the single-family structure located at 213 Fordham 
Drive; PCN# 38434415060083290.  The subject property was constructed in 1953 
and is a non-contributing resource within the College Park Local Historic District. 

 
3. HRPB Project Number 16-00100132: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for window replacement for the single-family structure located at 822 South 
Palmway; PCN# 38434427010230030.  The subject property was constructed in 
1953 and is a non-contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local Historic 
District. 

 
4. HRPB Project Number 16-00100101: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for exterior stucco alterations for the single-family structure located at 1516 
South Palmway; PCN#38434427010860041.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1948 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District. 

 



June 8, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

5. Review of Garage Door Styles and Types 
 

6. Planning Issues 
 

7. Public Comments (3 minute limit) 
 

8. Departmental Reports 
 

9. Board Member Comments 
 

10. Adjournment 
 

11. If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with 
respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the 
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of 
the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the 
appeal is to be based. (F.S. 286.0105) 
 
NOTE: ALL CITY BOARDS ARE AUTHORIZED TO CONVERT ANY PUBLICLY 
NOTICED MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP SESSION WHEN A QUORUM IS NOT 
REACHED. THE DECISION TO CONVERT THE MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP 
SESSION SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE CHAIR OR THE CHAIR'S DESIGNEE, 
WHO IS PRESENT AT THE MEETING. NO OFFICIAL ACTION SHALL BE TAKEN 
AT THE WORKSHOP SESSION, AND THE MEMBERS PRESENT SHOULD LIMIT 
THEIR DISCUSSION TO THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FOR THE PUBLICLY 
NOTICED MEETING. (Sec. 2-12 Lake Worth Code of Ordinances) 
 
Note:   One or more members of any Board, Authority or Commission may attend and speak at 
any meeting of another City Board, Authority or Commission.    
 
All project-related back-up materials, including full plan sets, are available for review by the 
public in the Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division located at 1900 2nd Avenue 
North. 
 



CITY OF LAKE WORTH
1900 2nd Ave N · Lake Worth, Florida 33461 · Phone: 561-586-1687

Agenda
Regular Meeting

City of Lake Worth
Historic Resources Preservation Board

City Hall Commission Room 
7 North Dixie Hwy; Lake Worth, FL

WEDNESDAY, MAY 11, 2016 6:00 PM

1. Roll Call and Recording of Absences
Present: Madeleine Burnside, Jimmy Zoellner, Herman Robinson, Judith Just, Darrin Engel, 
Erin Fitzhugh Sita.
Absent: Tom Norris
Also present were: Aimee Sunny, Planning Preservation Coordinator; Maxime Ducoste, 
Assistant Director for Planning & Preservation, Carolyn Ansay, Board Attorney; Sherie Coale, 
Board Secretary.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Additions/Deletions/Reordering and Approval of the Agenda 
Motion to approve: J. Just; 2nd M. Burnside
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous

4. Approval of Minutes

A. February 17, 2016 Special Meeting
Motion: J. Just 2nd J. Zoellner
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous
B. March 9, 2016 Regular Meeting
Motion: J. Just 2nd J. Zoellner
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous
C. April 13, 2016 Regular Meeting
Motion: J. Just 2nd J. Zoellner
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous

5. Cases

A. Swearing in of Staff and Applicants
Board Secretary swore in all persons giving testimony.
B. Proof of Publication
Motion to accept: Approved
C. Withdrawals/Postponements

None

D. Consent
None

E. Public Hearings



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

1. Board Disclosure
J. Just had discussion with applicant for N Lakeside however it will not affect her 
decision.

2. HRPB Project Number 16-00100082 and 16-01500006: Consideration of a Certificate 
of Appropriateness (COA) for new construction of an addition, a historic waiver for 
stairs in the front setback, a variance to allow a building lot coverage above the Code 
allowance, and pre-construction approval for a historic preservation ad valorem tax 
exemption, for the existing single-family structure located at 226 South L Street; PCN# 
38434421150910040.  The subject property was constructed c.1925 and is a 
contributing resource within the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District.

Staff: M. Ducoste presents staff findings. Recommends the variance for lot coverage be 
denied as the criteria has not been met. Staff recommends the approval of exterior 
alterations, new construction and historic waiver for stairs in the front setback with 
conditions as well as the ad valorem tax exemption with conditions. Reads a letter of 
support into the record from Joan Brewer.
Board: J. Just questions how long it has been vacant. Consensus is approximately 2006 
– 2007. H. Robinson indicates the building was saved, moved from another location 
and been there about 10 years.
H. Robinson would like to condition the approval with an expiration of the ad valorem, 
to incentivize the construction.
Applicant: Anne Fairfax Ellett- at the suggestion of staff, retained ten (10) inches of 
the overhang on the gable front end, but would like to clip it a bit. Applicant stated the 
property should probably be condemned, it is held together by straps in the interior. She 
is undecided about what the fate should be. Lot coverage is @ 190 feet over the 
requirement. Applicant indicates proposed plans are in compliance with the height
restrictions. Applicant may elect to return with a revision.
Staff: M. Burnside: asks what it is she would do different. Applicant would choose a 
different configuration if the lot were empty.
E. Fitzhugh Sita asks why the variance is needed for lot coverage? what makes it too 
small? Applicant states addition would consist of two (2) bedrooms, shared bath and 
loggia.
H. Robinson asks if in light of the interest of condemnation, would postponing this case 
until a later date be of interest?  Applicant is interested in the opinion of the board.
D. Engel indicates the interest is the tax exemption benefit, which would not be 
received with new construction. Asks why the applicant is interested in changing the  
size of the window openings.
Applicant indicates that she is a traditional architect and if a new structure were to be 
built it would not be a starkly, modern structure.
E. Fitzhugh Sita stated that she lived on a 25 foot lot beside someone who utilized every 
inch of the lot, it had a negative impact on her quality of life, therefore she does not 
support the variance for the lot coverage. A small overage might be accpetable, states 
she lives in a small square footage home and does so comfortably. Indicates that it does 
affect the impervious coverage. 
D. Engel cannot support the variance since the criteria has not been shown.
J. Zoellner and M. Burnside concur with not supporting the variance request.
D. Engel asks if a waiver is possible for the lot coverage. Staff responds that a waiver 
doesn’t apply to new construction, only applies to historic features.
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to deny the variance request. J. Zoellner 2nd .



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.
Applicant inquires if shortening the structure would be acceptable? Staff indicates that 
the request already includes a negative 3 feet.

Public Comment: Ms. St. Martin owns a business on J Street and appreciates Ms. Elletts’
work. Would like to preserve in a modern space, and make livable with demands of today, 
in favor of the variance for lot coverage.
Linda Mahoney: very creative way to rehab the property. Support the decision of staff to 
deny the variance. Code shows they must demonstrate meeting each code criteria. Also 
would like to know what the ad valorem tax benefit amounts mean to the City tax rolls. The 
greater portion of this project is new construction and would be exempted. In the event the 
applicant chooses demo, she would support that decision because not every contributing 
structure should be saved.
Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions, for purposes of discussion, to approve the request for the 
original historic building except remove condition #2 and modification of condition #5 to
replace with dimensional, asphalt shingles light color. J. Just 2nd.
Public comment: None
Board: E. Fitzhugh Sita is in favor of removing the 3 feet on the rear to aid in making the 
project work. Does not support the eaves being removed. J. Zoellner agrees. 
D. Engel believes the rear three (3) feet should remain, especially in light of requesting a tax 
exemption. In addition the window openings should not be altered. Thinks the revision
more closely emulates New Orleans style or Nantucket, not a Lake Worth cottage.
J. Just is in favor of removing the 3 feet from the rear elevation if it allows applicant the 
ability to work in the back, the windows are not an issue since they are not original. 
Applicant finds the current façade unappealing, strongly dislikes the oversized window 
openings. Does not want to restore a porch to the front of the structure.
Board: Purpose of the exemption is to preserve the historic integrity.
E. Fitzhugh Sita will not support tax exemption with removal of eaves, the rear three (3)
feet being removed is ok and change in window opening size. 
Applicant indicates rear eave is clipped on new structure. Applicant states the side eaves are 
the same from the  old to the new construction.
D. Engel, asks about height and what was the issue, response was to provide a new survey, 
it now meets the height.

7:01
Motion: To enclose outdoor dining room and kitchen with a wall of windows subject to 
staff review at time of permitting, remove Condition #2, and amend condition #5 to 
asphalt shingle or shake. Strike condition #3 of new construction regarding overhanging 
eaves. J. Zoellner 2nd

Public Comment: None
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to deny ad valorem tax exemption 2nd by J. Zoellner
Public Comment: None
Vote: 4/1 to deny J. Just dissenting.

7:11 pm
3. HRPB Project Number 15-00100022: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 

(COA) for new construction of an addition to the existing structure at 812 South 
Lakeside Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-024-0050.  The subject property was 
constructed in 1942 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local 
Historic District.



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

Request for Continuance: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions for continuance M. Burnside 2nd. 
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

F. Unfinished Business
None

G. New Business 7:15

1. HRPB Project Number 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior alterations including roof, window, and door replacement for the 
single-family structure located at 402 North Lakeside Drive; PCN# 
38434421154280 010.  The subject property was constructed in 1958 and is a non-
contributing resource within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District.

Staff: A. Sunny presents the case, staff does not in support the request due to removal 
of distinctive features and materials. The proposed roof lacks the thickness, depth and 
horizontal banding of concrete tile. The opinion of Richard Jones, city building 
inspector, is that damage to an asphalt shingle is possible from golf balls and hail. The 
State of Florida advises a coating (slurry) over the concrete tile. Replacement of silver
windows with white aluminum is not recommended.  As no compatible window 
replacement can be located, staff defers decision to Board. Board to select window.

7:29pm
Applicant: Would like impact windows and some existing windows do not work.
The roof was replaced in 1990, did not last the projected lifetime and has damage from 
golf balls. Nearby a neighbor replaced a roof with asphalt.  A. Sunny clarifies the 
neighboring roof was originally barrel tile. There is a variance granted for a golf ball 
fence on subject property.  Discussion around golf ball strikes to concrete roof.  
Applicant is aware there is a decrease in curb appeal with the asphalt roof. Applicant 
would like to go with a roofers’ opinion as to the preferable material. A composite type 
roof was not researched. Hail can also damage asphalt shingles.

2. H. Robinson-concrete is the ultimate midcentury material. J. Zoellner - if the property 
was anywhere but on the golf course, he would not be inclined to even entertain the 
idea of an asphalt shingle roof. 
Roofer: Dry in should last 60 days. Slurry not recommended to coat concrete. Would 
invalidate warranty. Underlayment needs to breathe. A. Sunny would suggest a different 
underlayment.  7:40pm
Windows:  Applicant prefers white aluminum. E. Fitzhugh Sita indicates that not every 
home in the neighborhood has changed out to a white aluminum frame. Applicant is 
fine with muntins.
H. Robinson asks if anodized windows are available; consensus is yes, but not readily.
Applicant is open to light grey screens. Provides a list of neighbors approving of the 
roof and changes.
J. Just also lives on the golf course and thinks asphalt should be granted.
J. Zoellner states in some golf communities, this would not be a topic of conversation 
as living on the golf course, golf ball strikes should be anticipated.  7:52
 D. Engel comments that the area predominately has cement tile roofs.
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions, for purposes of discussion, to approve with staff 
conditions with motion amended to read “ The roof shall be a white composite material, 
in order to most closely replicate the original flat white concrete tile roof as approved by 
staff, or concrete tile”. D. Engel believes white windows to be okay since they will match 
the roof. Condition #3 amended to “clear anodized silver mill finish or white window 



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

(option depending on roof) (also to include 2 sliding glass door replacements) Design 
and approval of the midcentury style front door shall be subject to staff level approval”.
D. Engel 2nds the motion. 
Public Comment: Linda Mahoney supports the Board motion. Last April a board 
decision was rendered for a white tile roof. Concerned over people buying without 
knowing they are in a historic district and what that encompasses.
Richard Stowe, 414 N. Federal Hwy. appreciative that Board encouraged the 
replacement of the white concrete tile. Asphalt would have a negative impact. Lives near 
a metal shingle improvement (that A. Sunny worked with the neighbor) and the result is 
very nice.
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.

3. HRPB Project Number 16-00100078: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior alterations for all 12 units in the multi-family structure located at 208 
South Lakeside Drive; PCN#'s: 38434427180005130, 38434427180004030, 
38434427180004020, 38434427180004010, 38434427180003030, 
38434427180003020, 38434427180003010, 38434427180002030, 
38434427180002020, 38434427180002010, 38434427180001030, 
38434427180001020, 38434427180001010, and 38-43-44-27-01-059-0010.  
The subject property was constructed in 1971 and is a non-contributing resource within 
the South Palm Park Local Historic District.
Staff: A. Sunny presents staff findings. Staff does not support the request as proposed.
Board: Discussion as to whether this is Mid Century modern.
J. Zoellner is pleased that someone wants to come in and replace everything  
consistently.
Applicant: Wes Blackman shows new color scheme for paint (which is underway) 
windows and doors are not visible. Eliminates buyer and seller uncertainty as to what 
they can and cannot do when purchasing windows.
Public Comment: None
Motion: D. Engel motions to approve with the following conditions. 

1) Replacement windows may be 1/1 white aluminum single-hung windows where indicated 
on the drawings. 
2) Replacement windows may be single light operable or fixed windows where indicated on 
the drawings. 
3) Replacement sliding glass doors may be white aluminum impact sliding glass doors where 
indicated on the drawings. 
7) The existing non-original plexiglass sidelights and transoms may be replaced with 
tempered glass and doors as submitted (replace all original flush panel doors with decorative 
trim that enter each unit with new 2-panel impact steel doors). J. Zoellner 2nd.

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.      8:29 pm

4. HRPB Project Number 16-00100079: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 817 South Palmway, 
PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-022-0120.  The subject building was constructed in 1940 and the 
property is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local Historic District.
Staff: A. Sunny presents staff findings.
Board: H. Robinson asks about when the aluminum siding. Records indicate the 60s
Applicant: Jim Maxwell and Ann requesting metal roof. Trying to stay consistent with 
the neighborhood. Trying to upgrade and use product proven to last longer than asphalt 
shingles. Indicates that asphalt was $19 K 5vcrimp is @ 11K 8:42pm



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

Board seems to concur that they would approve this request.  J. Just points out that 
Board is now agreeing that 5Vcrimp is ok, does not know the direction we are heading.
E. Fitzhugh Sita hopes to move forward. Like for like 8:46 pm
M. Burnside agrees the 5 v crimp will be an improvement.
E. Fitzhugh Sita voices her concern of setting a precedent (contrary to what was 
previously approved.)
Public comment:
Leigh Shinohara: Move forward, history is changing and people are trying to bring back 
homes without going bankrupt. Practicality should prevail.  

9:00 pm
Motion: M. Burnside motions to approve as proposed as by applicant. 2nd J. Just
Replace the existing asphalt shingle roof with a Southeastern Metals 5v Crimp 
aluminum roof panel system.
Vote: by roll call ayes all, unanimous.
M. Ducoste voices concern over practicality vs the decision to act contrary to staff 
recommendation and the fact that it is a contributing structure.
Board states if it had been a better example of contributing, the decision may have been 
different. They are conflicted in their decision and hope this can be a topic at the 
workshop to come up with some alternatives when the choices are limited by current 
standards.

5. HRPB Project Number 16-00100049: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for roof replacement to the subject property located at 922 North O Street, 
PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-290-0060.  The subject building was constructed in 1952 and the 
property is a non-contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District.

9:11 pm
Staff: A. Sunny presents the staff findings.
Applicant: Pamela Melvin been there 26 years, prior to existence of Historic 
Preservation Board.  Wants to add character to her house wants to make it feel Key 
West. Board interjects that metal shingles are not out of reach cost wise. White tile was 
original roof.
Public comment: Linda Mahoney-believes that based on the last case the decision 
should be simple. What was permitted for a contributing structure should be given the 
same consideration to a non-contributing structure.
Applicant states that asphalt roofs are ugly.

Motion: D. Engel approves the request for 5v crimp as applied for by applicant J. Just 
2nd

D. Engel and J. Zoellner based their decisions on the non-contributing factor.
Vote: Ayes 3/2 E. Fitzhugh Sita and M. Burnside dissenting. Motion for approval 
passes.

6. HRPB Project Number 16-00100075: Consideration of a Retroactive Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for gate installation for the single-family structure located at 
331 Cornell Drive; PCN# 38434415060051770. The subject property was 
constructed c.1925 and is a contributing resource within the College Park Local Historic 
District. 9:25 pm
Staff: Staff is in support of a gate, material is not acceptable. Wrought iron or wood 
would be a historically compatible material.



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

Board:
Applicant: Asks the Board if they would like to see the renovations and progression of 
the property conditions over the years. Leigh Shinohara has voluntarily removed a PVC 
gate on the property and requests to allow this new gate. There are 22 homes with PVC
fences and/or gates in the neighborhood. King starboard is a marine material used on 
the water and is indestructible. Asking for fairness.

E. Fitzhugh Sita asks why this fence is before us. Needs to be worked out with staff and 
zoning administrator (who has the ability to grant approval of other materials), does it 
need a variance.  Applicant was told the matter would have to come before the Board. 
Applicant provides brochure that her house was on tour with awnings. They had been 
removed and are now re-installed and she has been cited.  Code heard and withdrew the 
case then reactivated??
Motion: E. Fitzhugh Sita motions to approve the gate, J. Zoellner 2nd .  
Public Comment: Linda Mahoney gate material is under the heading of “nail polish” (in 
that it can easily be undone) not like a tattoo that is painful and hard to undo.
Vote: Ayes all, unanimous.
To re-install the awnings, a permit is required and will be reviewed at staff level.

7. Conceptual Review - HRPB Project Number 16-00100107: Consideration of a 
Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior alterations for the subject property 
located at 1019 North K Street, PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-308-0120.  The subject building 
was constructed c.1930 and the property is a non-contributing resource within the 
Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. Materials not yet completely submitted.
Staff suggests removal of asbestos sidings to determine what is beneath.

E. Fitzhugh Sita departs at 9:55 pm

Applicant Comments: Carlos Gonzales prefers impact windows as the replacement.
Maxime indicates the biggest challenge is the proving that it is a 2 family structure.
Board would like windows to be consistent, cleaned up.

6. Planning Issues

7. Public Comments (3 minute limit) 10:10 pm
Richard Stowe discussion re: North K states that it is single family, asbestos is tricky to remove.
410 North Federal Hwy removed a carport and damaging his tree and siding. He has been 
before the board twice. This company owns many structures in Lake Worth and clearly knows
that permits are required. Unpermitted work continued inside.

8. Departmental Reports
A. Sunny reminds Board members of the workshop.  To date, June has an unprecedented 18 
items on the agenda. Reiterates that Director William Waters emphasizes the importance of 
attending the workshop.

9. Board Member Comments

10. Adjournment:    10:25 pm
Ayes all



May 11, 2016 Regular Meeting - REVISED

Attest: ___________________________
Herman Robinson, Chairman

Submitted By: ___________________________
Sherie Coale, Board Secretary

Minutes Approved: ___________________________
Date



Community Sustainability
 Planning Zoning Historic Preservation

1900 2nd Avenue North

Lake Worth, FL 33461

561.586.1687

Agenda 
Workshop Meeting 
City of Lake Worth 

Historic Resources Preservation Board 
City Hall, Commission Room, 7 North Dixie Hwy.

WEDNESDAY, MAY 18, 2016 6:00 PM

1. 
Roll Call and Recording of Absences: 
Present: Herman Robinson, Judith Just, Darrin Engel, 6:02-Erin Fitzhugh Sita; 6:02-Madeleine 
Burnside; 6:07-Jimmy Zoellner; Absent: Tom Norris
Also present: Aimee Sunny, Senior Preservation Planning Coordinator; Katie Jacob, Associate 
Preservation Planner; Maxime Ducoste, Assistant Director for Planning and Preservation; 
William Waters, Director for Community Sustainability; Carolyn Ansay, Board Attorney; 
Sherie Coale, Board Secretary.
2. 
Pledge of Allegiance 
3. 
New Business: 

A. HRPB and Staff Discussion of Historic Preservation Issues and Challenges 

Director William Waters discusses the history of Historic Preservation program in the City or 
lack thereof, sporadic application of policies, previous lack of Historic staff. There were two 
(2) development “heydays”, South Florida is unique. K. Jacob gives Powerpoint presentation.
William Waters indicates there are four (4) different neighborhood meetings to be scheduled,
dates and places yet to be determined. The intent is to gather grassroots information from the 
citizenry in the historic neighborhoods. At one point in time, the Planning and Zoning HRPB 
and Nuisance Abatement Boards were one in the same. Approvals were done by staff and 
board in the past that should not have been done/approved. Currently both staff and Board
members have been ‘backed into a corner’.  The ordinance the City follows is based upon 
National Guidelines, most cities have taken further steps to create their own standards/
Tolerances. Board currently makes decisions based upon what may have been there. 
Discussion of trade embargo between 1926 and 1928 hurricanes thus affecting the supply of  
materials which have changed over time. During the late 50’s, 60’s, and 70's, one third of the 
buildings were constructed in Lake Worth. Predominant characteristics of Mid-Century 
Modern are the white tile roof and windows. Lake Worth was a big vacation and rental 
destination.
A. Sunny presents "Why preserve".
William Waters states that we, (the Board, Staff and neighborhoods) need to determine what 
it is that Lake Worth would like to become. Queries the Board as to what they value vs. staff 
vs. the public.



H. Robinson- his “ah hah” moment is driving down Palmway. Interested in the 
gerrymandering of Lake and Lucerne and district boundaries. J. Just asks if boundaries can be 
revised?  Director William Waters indicates yes. There are a number of buildings associated 
with early pioneers even though they may not be beautiful.

Chairman Robinson re-directs the conversation to a roof and window discussion.
Board: Erin Fitzhugh Sita- Character vs cost. Important to identify contributing vs non-
contributing. Applauds staff for reaching out for grant money for new survey. Cost-structures 
are important as are people. How we can allow some self-expression. Tempers her reasoning 
for being lenient for the need to preserve because money and grant cannot be obtained if we 
do not follow guidelines. Suggestion would be to provide a guideline for house type, i.e. Mid 
Century Modern with photo example, windows- different types allowed, roofs- different types 
allowed etc.
Marketing and communication-
D. Engel- Understands that when staff recommends or denies a project, that staff is bound by 
State / National Guidelines.
Realtors need to make prospective residents aware of historic districts. Would like non and 
contributing properties held to different standards. Different districts have different types of 
homes.
J. Just- How to preserve while allowing residents to upgrade with modern conveniences, and 
at the same time addressing safety and security concerns. Come up with a balance or 
guidelines and a little more lenient.
J. Zoellner was not aware he was moving into a historic district. Being from upstate NY, the 
district wasn't dictating the materials or style. The Board respects all opinions. Need more 
flexibility so that people can afford repairs.  i.e. jalousie windows are period but not for here 
and now. We must take into account finances of applicants.
M. Burnside- concerns are in historic district we treat buildings of all ages the same, whether 
contributing or not. As a longtime resident of Key West is doing it now.  A simple style sheet is 
an excellent ideal. Perhaps a matrix that looks at the quality of design, materials, and present 
quality as well as structural integrity of the building. Part of the charm is the individual choice 
that citizens put their own twist on their property. Does not like fake history details added. 
Balance thriving economic opportunity with preservation. Key West has disregarded, not 
given much weight to national standards due to being too vague. 
Chairman Robinson-Hurricanes and preservation are both in our future. Does not want to lose 
any more concrete tile. Application should be determined as being complete when received, 
(eliminating the need for "more information").
J. Just- if we are too rigid, people are inclined to do unpermitted work. 
D. Engel- believes that is precipitated by a fear of lack of speed of the approval.
E. Fitzhugh Sita’s experience with a personal review was @ one (1) month. Reviews in 
unincorporated Palm Beach County take even longer.



Director William Waters apprises that all disciplines are now fully staffed with exception of 
mechanical (Hybird) and fire. Permits are being processed much faster. Application 
completeness remains a concern, there are an extraordinary amount of incomplete  
applications being received.
J. Just asks about volunteers to review for completeness. William Waters says he is in favor of 
solutions but staff has grown from 18 to 33, but the space remains the same. The files are in 
City Hall basement which we use on a daily basis. True National standards are very vague and 
we need some guidelines regarding Materials etc.
We want to hear the struggles of the citizenry, what they expect (if anything) what they have 
received, how perception has changed.
D. Engel- what are we reviewing for? color? fences? why are we reviewing new fences? And 
other items not part of the historic structure.
The Director mentions that fences are reviewed in relation to the property that is being 
revitalized.

4.
Public Comments (3 minute limit): 
Leigh Shinohara -221 Cornell-watched the city deteriorate and wants better; and we can 
change it. Feels the preservation guidelines make it very difficult to enable people to invest.
John Wallace -106 Ocean Breeze - developers with money win out, keep the quality of material 
and intent of code in place. Stood to the intent not necessarily the letter of the law. Asks about 
performance standards.
Wes Blackman-College Park- concerned about backlash against Historic Preservation and we  
have to ask why. ask about Customer Service, the perception that living historic means you 
are going to have to spend a lot of money. Need to understand how districts were created. 
Questions why so many split close votes.
Teresa Miller 829 Lakeside-Inside Cottages tour. Current system producing problems. 
Mentions property on the market and must be built to historic to the tune of $400K to tear 
down and build around walls. Complains about review time and unreturned calls, emails and 
contractors who refuse to and demand more money based on submitting plans to the City of 
Lake Worth.
Marty Wellfeld 829- communication. The National guidelines are merely that guidelines.
Questions 50 year timeline period, believes it to be very short. Mentions a garage, a concrete 
cube.
Susan Ona - 826 North Palmway- expresses the need to be more flexible, work with citizenry
despite small staff. Excited new residents become easily disillusioned. Who is going to put up 
with current process? Communication is critical. William states we do have an interface to see 
status of any permit.
Chip Gutherie-district characteristics. Has vinyl clad windows and fencing which he believes 
looks fine except for the sprinkler stains. Wood deteriorates too. Issues with permit, what does 
the age of survey matter? not a seismically active area.



Director William Waters indicates code enforcement finds quite frequently what is in the field 
is not what is on the survey. Prescribed easements do not appear on the survey. The example 
of Lago Lucerne is not applicable as it is not in the city.

D. Engel- mentions snowbird residents not being present when this is being discussed or 
changed.
E. Fitzhugh Sita mentions allowing online suggestions or inserts via water bills. We cannot 
wait to proceed with the survey.
Chairman Robinson - the public does not contribute to the survey, some things need to change 
sooner rather than later. We can change the vinyl restrictions. William mentions code would 
have to be changed. 
E. Fitzhugh Sita mentions only the administrator can "grant" approval to material changes.
Chairman Robinson is in favor of concrete tile roofs, and asphalt conversion to metal if it is 
standing seam.
M. Burnside- The metal roof was introduced in Key West as a safety feature. We think of it as 
historic. We should stop fixating on original material which was for a specific reason then and 
now we have valid reasons for material changes as well. Windows should remain for historic 
and only change out for safety.
J. Zoellner-vinyl windows can be great, has seen better than some aluminum. Anodized vs 
white for same reason we do not dictate paint color on house. Respects Chairman’s view of 
concrete tile, however once so many changes have occurred then maybe the loss of a concrete 
roof is not such a big deal. Not a fan of 5 v-crimp.
J. Just- wind insurance is a big consideration for the homeowners finance. One should not have 
to get a home equity loan to pay for a new roof. Glad she replaced her windows before. As a 
single woman she is happy she went with impact windows. As long as the look is preserved. lt
D. Engel- does not like asphalt in this climate. It is hot, if he wanted to go to metal roof, he 
would like the option of being able to do so. Wood windows should be preserved as long as 
they are not rotting, infinitely better than aluminum frame. As a character defining feature,
should consider storm shutters for protection. If they choose impact they should closely 
emulate the original. What was applied was not attractive. Should look appropriate, and some 
homeowners are disappointed with their end result.
E. Fitzhugh Sita - contributing vs non-contributing. We make it difficult for non-contributing, 
this is where the freedom should exist (leniency). Just because it’s old doesn't mean its 
contributing. Condition color and material of non-contributing. Complimentary  to  not 
consistent with.  Crazy things should come to board. Non-contributing- let it go. We are 
winning the battle but losing the war. We are getting asphalt shingles instead of metal roofs 
just because we cannot get metal shingles. Believes we should be more liberal with the back 
of the home. Impact windows are frightening because they can't be broken. Super 
contributing.



Director William Waters mentions multiple design guidelines by other cities. Does not mind 
pilfering ideas from other cities.
Chairman Robinson states it comes down to balance.
D. Engel- would like historic markers/signage for districts, William Waters mentions budget 
constraints, there are a number of options to at least recognize the perimeters of the 
neighborhoods perhaps with banners.

The survey will be completed by an outside company, hopefully by end of year.

5. 
Board Member Comments: see above.
6. 
Adjournment: 8:50 PM

Attest: ___________________________
Herman Robinson, Chairman

Submitted By: ___________________________
Sherie Coale, Board Secretary

Minutes Approved: ___________________________
Date







City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  212 Vanderbilt Drive

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100102: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an 
addition and in-ground pool installation for the single-family structure located at 212 Vanderbilt Drive; PCN# 38-
434415070006850.  The subject property was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource within the 
College Park Local Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Patrick and Erica Glenny

 212 Vanderbilt Drive

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The property at 212 Vanderbilt Drive has a one-story Mid-Century Masonry Vernacular single-family residence 
designed in 1953 by Architect, Edgar S. Wortman for Mr. and Mrs. G.R. Shallowood.  The property has frontage 
on Vanderbilt Drive to the South. Character defining features of the building include the white concrete tile roof, 
recessed front porch, aluminum awning windows, linear ranch-style plan, and concrete masonry with stucco 
construction.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files. Based on the information 
in the City’s property file, the building has undergone minimal changes over time including door replacement, 
enclosure of the carport, additions to the structure built in 1955 and 1966, and window replacement in the 
additions.  Overall, the building retains a moderate degree of historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and 
design.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant has submitted plans for a 212 sq. ft. bedroom addition on the rear, west façade of the existing 
house.  The Applicant has provided architectural plans for the building, including a site plan, floor plan, details, 
and elevations.



HRPB PR No. 16-00100102
212 Vanderbilt Drive

COA Application – Addition
Page 2

2

The scope of work for the addition is minimal as the flat roof addition is being attached to the rear west wall and 
no change in the existing roof slope is proposed.  The overall effect on the front façade will be minimal, with the 
addition being located behind the existing structure.  The new addition will be concrete masonry construction 
with a stucco finish and will have a flat roof and aluminum windows and doors to match the existing house.

The subject property is zoned Single-family Residential (SFR), and is subject to the development standards for 
this district in the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code and in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. An addition to a single-
family residence is permitted, so long as it conforms to the required development criteria in §23.3-7 of the City 
of Lake Worth Zoning Code. The following table includes some of the basic specifications for the proposed 
construction:

Dimension Required by Code Existing or Proposed

Lot size 5,000 sq. feet for single family

7,500 sq. feet for two family

6,750 sq. feet 

Lot width 50’-0” for one unit

75’-0” for two units

75’-0”

Front (South) setback 20’0” 20’0”  existing

Side setback 10% of lot width = 5’-0” East = 7.6’ existing, 7.6’ proposed;  
West = 7.6’ existing, 7.6’ proposed  

Rear (North) setback 15.0’ for primary building 67.9’ existing; 43.7’ proposed

F.A.R.1 0.45 0.29 existing, 0.32 proposed

Max. Building Coverage2 35% max. 32% proposed

Impervious surface 55% max. Appx. 49% proposed

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning and Comprehensive Plan Consistency
Overall, the proposed new construction project is consistent with the development requirements in the City’s 
Zoning Code and Comprehensive Plan.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and applied the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

  
1 Floor area ratio:  A regulatory technique which relates to total developable site area and the size (square feet) of 
development permitted on a specific site.  A numeric rating assigned to each land use category 
that determines the total gross square feet of all buildings as measured from each building’s exterior walls based upon the 
actual land area of the parcel upon which the buildings are to be located.  Total gross square feet calculated using the 
assigned floor area ratio shall not include such features as parking lots or the first three (3) levels of parking structures, aerial 
pedestrian crossovers, open or partially enclosed plazas, or exterior pedestrian and vehicular circulation areas.
2 Building lot coverage: The area of a lot covered by the impervious surface associated with the footprint(s) of all buildings on 
a particular lot.  Structured parking garages are exempt from building lot coverage.



HRPB PR No. 16-00100102
212 Vanderbilt Drive

COA Application – Addition
Page 3

3

It is the analysis of Staff that the project is fundamentally compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
historic preservation regulations. The addition is proposed on a secondary elevation of the building, and will have 
a minimal visual impact on the building as viewed from Vanderbilt Drive.  The addition is in scale with the massing 
and height of the existing structure.  Staff issued concerns with the owner over the window placement and lack 
of windows on the North façade.  The applicant worked with the architect to add compatible windows and doors 
to balance the addition in correlation with the existing structure. 

Public Comment
At the time of publication of the agenda, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

The project, as proposed, is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives concerning 
future land use and housing:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the 
City of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends approval of the request for an addition to the existing single-family structure with the 
following conditions:

1) An expansion joint shall be used between the existing structure and the proposed addition as needed in 
order to avoid damage to the existing building.

2) The existing structure shall be properly protected during construction so as not to incur damage from the 
addition.  Engineering drawings shall be required to show how the new roof and walls will tie into the 
existing structure.

3) All windows and doors shall be aluminum, and shall not use reflective glass.  The header height of the 
new windows and doors should match that of the existing windows and doors on the rear of the 
structure.

4) The exposed rafter tails shall match the size, shape, profile, and configuration of the existing rafter tails 
on the rear of the structure.

5) The stucco texture on the proposed addition shall match the stucco texture on the existing structure.



HRPB PR No. 16-00100102
212 Vanderbilt Drive

COA Application – Addition
Page 4

4

POTENTIAL MOTION:  

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100102: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the 
construction of an addition for the subject building located at 212 Vanderbilt Drive, with conditions as 
recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence.

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100102: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the 
construction of an addition for the subject building located at 212 Vanderbilt Drive because the Applicant has not 
established by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth 
Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of 
Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria 
2. Application Photographs
3. Proposed Architectural Drawings
4. Proposed Window Information
5. Original Architectural Drawings

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100102: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for an addition and in-ground pool installation for the single-
family structure located at 212 Vanderbilt Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-15-07-000-6850.  
The subject property was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource 
within the College Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed work on the property located at 212 Vanderbilt 
Drive will have no adverse effect on the historic appearance or significance of the building.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding College Park Local Historic District.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is not proposing to replace any original materials on the building. It is the 
opinion of Staff that the proposed addition is compatible with the architectural style of the single-
family residence and will not adversely affect the historic integrity of the original structure.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the home, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



2

F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is not removing any historic materials from the property.  The proposed 
changes will not alter the main street-facing elevation, or other features and spaces that characterize 
this property.  The basic shape and form of the structure will not be affected by the addition.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the addition will be compatible with the original Masonry 
Vernacular structure, and given the difference in footprint as well as roof height and slope, the 
addition will also be easily distinguished from the main structure.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: The historically significant features of the building are being retained.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that no distinctive features, finishes, or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize the property are being adversely affected by the scope of work proposed. 

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



3

(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: The proposed new addition meet this criterion.  The addition is compatible in size, massing, 
and scale.  The footprint, roof shape, and location will make the addition easily distinguished from the 
original structure.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: The proposed addition could be removed at a later date, with some changes to the main 
structure.  

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would not be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: No.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings of the structure; 
and
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.





























City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  404 South L St

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100100: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for a rear 
screen porch addition to the single-family residence located at 404 South L Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-157-
0150. The subject property was constructed c.1935 and is a contributing resource within the Southeast 
Lucerne Local Historic District.

OWNER: Shannon S. Torrence 

 404 South  L Street

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The property at 404 South L Street has a one-story single-family residence that was constructed c.1935 in the 
Shotgun Frame Vernacular Cottage Style.  The property has public frontage on South L Street to the west.  
Character defining features of the building include the original wood double hung 1/1 windows and screens, 
wood window trim, wood colonial shutters, projecting gabled front porch overhang, and wood siding. 
Features that have been altered include the front door and roof type.  Overall, the building retains a high 
degree of historic integrity of location, setting, materials, design, and craftsmanship. 

REQUEST: 

The Applicant has submitted plans for a 259 square foot screen porch addition to the main one-story house on 
the subject property. The wood framed screen porch addition is proposed to have an asphalt shingle roof and 
will be located on the rear of the existing structure, facing the east. The Applicant has provided proposed 
architectural plans for the building, including a site plan, floor plans, details, and elevations.

The screen porch addition will have a wood frame and screen walls and concrete footings, and will attach into 
the existing roof system.  The screen room will have fans and electrical outlets, and the existing double French 
doors will open into the enclosed screen room. 

The subject property is zoned Multi-family Residential (MF-20) which points to Single-family and Two-family 
Residential (SF-TF 14) to govern a single or two-family use, and is subject to the development standards for 



HRPB No. 16-00100100
404 S L St

COA Application – Screen Porch Addition
Page 2

2

this district in the City of Lake Worth Zoning Code and the City’s Comprehensive Plan. An addition to a single-
family residence is permitted, so long as it conforms to the required development criteria in §23.3-8 of the 
City of Lake Worth Zoning Code. The following table includes some of the basic specifications for the proposed 
construction:

Dimension Required by Code Existing or Proposed

Lot size 5,000 sq. feet for single family

7,500 sq. feet for two family

3,375 sq. feet 

Lot width 50’-0” for one unit

75’-0” for two units

25’-0”

Front (West) setback 20’0” 28’ existing

Side setback 10% of lot width, Compliance 
with non-conforming status

North= 2.6’ existing, 3.6’ to addition

South= 2.2’ existing, 3.2’ to addition

Rear (East) setback 15.0’ for primary building 67’-0” existing; 48’-3” proposed

F.A.R.1 0.55 Appx. 0.32 proposed

Max. Building Coverage2 40% max. Appx. 34% proposed

Impervious surface 60% max. Appx. 41% proposed

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning and Comprehensive Plan Consistency
The proposed new construction project is in compliance with the development requirements in the City’s 
Zoning Code and Comprehensive Plan.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and applied the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 –
Decision Criteria.

It is the opinion of Staff that the project as proposed is compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
historic preservation regulations.  The screen porch enclosure is not visible from South L Street, and is located 
at the rear of the structure.  The suggested design of the screen porch is compatible with the simple Frame 
Vernacular style of the house.  The applicant has determined that the roof of the addition shall match the 
existing structure and be dimensional asphalt shingle.

Public Comment
At the time of publication of the agenda, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

  
1 Floor area ratio:  A regulatory technique which relates to total developable site area and the size (square feet) of 
development permitted on a specific site.  A numeric rating assigned to each land use category 
that determines the total gross square feet of all buildings as measured from each building’s exterior walls based upon 
the actual land area of the parcel upon which the buildings are to be located.  Total gross square feet calculated using the 
assigned floor area ratio shall not include such features as parking lots or the first three (3) levels of parking structures, 
aerial pedestrian crossovers, open or partially enclosed plazas, or exterior pedestrian and vehicular circulation areas.
2 Building lot coverage: The area of a lot covered by the impervious surface associated with the footprint(s) of all buildings 
on a particular lot.  Structured parking garages are exempt from building lot coverage.



HRPB No. 16-00100100
404 S L St

COA Application – Screen Porch Addition
Page 3

3

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

The project, as proposed, is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives concerning 
future land use and housing:

Goal 1.3 The preserve and enhance the City’s community character as a quality residential and business 
center within the Palm Beach County urban area. (Objective 1.3.4)

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends approval of the requests for a screen porch addition with the following conditions:

1) An expansion joint shall be used between the existing structure and the proposed addition as needed 
in order to avoid damage to the existing building.

2) The existing structure shall be properly protected during construction so as not to incur damage from 
the addition.  Engineering drawings shall be required to show how the new roof and walls will tie into 
the existing structure.

3) The screen porch shall be designed and constructed so that it shall be considered a permanent 
structure.  

4) The roof on the screen porch addition shall be dimensional asphalt structure to match the existing 
structure.  Staff recommends a white or light gray color for increased energy efficiency. 

POTENTIAL MOTIONS:  

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100100: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) a screen 
porch addition for the subject building located at 404 S L St, with the conditions as recommended by Staff, 
based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth 
Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4.

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100100: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for a screen 
porch addition for the subject building located at 404 S L St because the Applicant has not established by a 
preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of 
Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the 
Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria
2. Photographs 
3. Justification Statement
4. Proposed Architectural Drawings



HRPB No. 16-00100100
404 S L St

COA Application – Screen Porch Addition
Page 4

4

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100100: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for a rear screen porch addition to the single-family residence 
located at 404 South L Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-157-0150. The subject property 
was constructed c.1935 and is a contributing resource within the Southeast Lucerne 
Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the proposed work on the property located at 404 S L Street 
will have no adverse effect on the historic appearance or significance of the building.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is not proposing to replace any original materials on the building. It is the 
opinion of Staff that the proposed screen porch addition is compatible with the architectural style of 
the single-family residence and will not adversely affect the historic integrity of the original structure.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the home, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



2

F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is not removing any historic materials from the property.  The proposed 
changes will not alter the main street-facing elevation, or other features and spaces that characterize 
this property.  The basic shape and form of the structure will not be affected by the addition.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the addition will be compatible with the original Frame 
Vernacular structure, and given the difference in footprint as well as roof height and slope, the 
addition will also be easily distinguished from the main structure.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: The historically significant features of the building are being retained.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that no distinctive features, finishes, or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize the property are being adversely affected by the scope of work proposed. 

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



3

(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: The proposed new addition meet this criterion.  The addition is compatible in size, massing, 
and scale.  The footprint, roof shape, and location will make the addition easily distinguished from the 
original structure.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: The proposed addition could be removed at a later date, with some changes to the main 
structure.  

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would not be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: No.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings of the structure; 
and
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.























FLOOR / FOUND. PLAN ROOF FRAMING PLAN

TYPICAL SECTION

SOUTH ELEVATION EAST  ELEVATION

TH
OM

AS
 J.

 T
W

OM
EY

, P
.E

.

DRAWN

DATE

FILE

SHEET #

SCALE:

To
rr

en
ce

 R
es

id
en

ce

F.B.C. 2014, FIFTH EDITION ASCE-7-10 EXP. 'C'

DESIGN WIND PRESSURES

AERIAL VIEW

1 OF 1

VICINITY MAP

DETAIL - A

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO REMAIN U.O.N.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"Wx14"D CONC. FTG.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ (3)#5 CONT. (F-10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRILL & EPOXY FTG. REINF.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(6" MIN. EMBED.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQ.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2x6 WOOD DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2)2x6 & (1)4x4 TIE COLLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ 1/2"%%C THRU BOLTS EA.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4x4 WOOD POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
4x4 WOOD POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL ROOF (SEE PRODUCT APPROVALS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVER 2x6 T & G ROOF DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. ROOF TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATTACH 2x6 LEDGER TO EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD FRAME W/(2)#8x3" WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCREWS @ 16" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONST. WOOD FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEP (2x6 @ 16" O.C.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2)2x6 W/ (2) 1/2"%%C THRU BOLTS EA. (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE DETAIL - A

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
2x6x24" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONNECTION TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2x8 RIDGE BEAM W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUS24 EACH JOIST (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"x14" CONC. FOOTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/(3) #5 BARS CONT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE FLOOR / FOUND. PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOR FRAMING & DECTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIMPSON CB44 EA. POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2)1/2"%%C THRU BOLTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EACH CONNECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
4x4 POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. %%P9'-6" (TO UNDERSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONT. GALV. DRIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
(SEE ATTACHED PRODUCT APPROVALS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FL. (-)4 1/2" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(BELOW HOUSE F.F.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIMPSON H3 W/ (2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/16"x1 3/4" TAPCONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
& (4)8d NAILS (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIMPSON HGAM10 BOTH SIDES

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/4 x6 RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2x6 T & G SHEATHING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/(2) #8x3" F.H.W.S. @ EACH 2x10

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE PLAN FOR FRAMING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIZE AND SPACING

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF EXIST. EAVE BEYOND V.I.F.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" THRU BOLTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EACH CONNECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. ROOF TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCREEN ENCLOSURE (BY OTHERS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(NORTH SIMILAR OPP. HAND)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCREEN ENCLOSURE (BY OTHERS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COORD. STEP W/ OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONT. GALV. DRIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
COORD. STEP W/ OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/4x6 RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/4x6 RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2)2x6 TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" THRU BOLT @

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIE COLLAR TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS  BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tel: 561 688-2844

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fax: 561 686-5862

AutoCAD SHX Text
2831 EXCHANGE COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33409

AutoCAD SHX Text
#25626

AutoCAD SHX Text
TT/404....

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCS

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.27.2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Flroida 33458





City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  313 North Palmway

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100134: Consideration of a Revision to a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for construction of a new single-family residence at the subject property located 
at 313 North Palmway; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-098-0130. The subject property is located within the Old 
Lucerne Local Historic District.

AGENT:  Sabatello Construction of FL Inc.

 9002 Burma Rd, Suite 100

 Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33403

OWNER:  Jerry Stambaugh
 313 North Palmway
 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

In January 2015, the existing one-story structure on the subject property caught on fire and was 
severely damaged.  Due to the extensive fire damage, the roof, interior walls, and exterior walls had 
partially collapsed.  Subsequently, the building was classified as an unsafe structure and an emergency 
demolition occurred in February, under an order from the Building Division.  In August 2015, the HRPB 
approved plans for construction of a new 1,922 square foot single-family residence.  The structure was 
completed in April 2016.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is requesting a revision to the previously approved Certificate of Appropriateness to 
allow installation of a leaded glass single French door, in place of the previously approved clear, single-
light French door.

ANALYSIS:  

Historic Preservation

New construction within a local historic district is subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility as 
set forth in Section 23.5-4(k)3 of the City’s historic preservation regulations. These criteria are provided 
in Attachment 1 and include Staff’s response to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, scale, 
materials, and design compatibility with the surrounding historic district.



HRPB PR No. 15-00100134
313 North Palmway

COA Application – Revision
Page 2

2

Specifically, this request deals with the design compatibility of the structure and the historic district.  
Decorative leaded glass doors were not used historically in the districts, and are not historically 
compatible with the concrete masonry with cottage influence style of architecture.  Although this is 
new construction, the review Standards outlined in the City’s Code require compatibility of design and 
harmony with the surrounding district.  The type of door requested is not in harmony with the district, 
nor the architectural style of the structure.

Public Comment
At the time of publication of the agenda, Staff has not received any public comments regarding this 
project.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

The project, as proposed, is not consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives 
concerning future land use and housing:

Goal 1.3 To preserve and enhance the City’s community character as a quality residential and business 
center within the Palm Beach County urban area. (Objective 1.3.4)

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where 
appropriate restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain 
to request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board deny the request as submitted, as the proposal does not meet the 
requirements for new construction as outlined in the City of Lake Worth Municipal Code Section 23.5-4, 
is not compatible with the architectural style of the structure, and is not in harmony with the 
surrounding district.

POTENTIAL MOTION:  
I MOVE TO APPROVE/DENY HRPB PR# 15-00100134: Consideration of a Revision to a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for new construction at the subject property located at 313 North Palmway, as 
recommended by Staff.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria – New Construction
2. Photographs
3. Justification Statement
4. Approved Architectural Plans, 9/16/2015
5. Proposed Product Information



HRPB PR No. 15-00100134
313 North Palmway

COA Application – Revision
Page 3

3

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 15-00100134: Consideration of a Revision to a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for construction of a new single-family residence at the 
subject property located at 313 North Palmway; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-098-0130. The 
subject property is located within the Old Lucerne Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Section 23.5-4k(3) Additional guidelines for new construction; visual compatibility

All improvements to buildings, structures and appurtenances within a designated historic district shall be 
visually compatible. New buildings should take their design cues from the surrounding existing structures, 
using traditional or contemporary design standards and elements that relate to existing structures that 
surround them and within the historic district as a whole. Building design styles, whether contemporary 
or traditional, should be visually compatible with the existing structures in the district.

A.  In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the City 
shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility:

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the height 
of existing buildings located within the historic district.
Response: The proposed building is consistent with the height of other 1-story buildings 
surrounding the property, and would be in harmony with the height of other historic 
properties in the district.

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of 
existing buildings located within the district.
Response: The width and height of the front elevations of the proposed building can be 
considered to be in scale with the surrounding properties.

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and in 
harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within the 
historic district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the height of the 
windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings within the district.
Response: The proposed front door is compatible in height and width to others in the district.  
The detailing of the door, with the leaded glass insert, is not compatible with the masonry 
vernacular cottage influence style of architecture and is not in harmony with the surrounding 
historic district.



2

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or structures 
located within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of existing narrow 
structures can be divided into smaller bays which will complement the visual setting and the 
streetscape.
Response: The façade is broken up with the protruding front porch, as well as windows and 
doors, and the solid to void relationship is compatible with the district.  

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere 
within the district.
Response: The proposed building respects the customary front, side, and rear setbacks 
within the district, and also within the current zoning code.

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances and porch 
projections on buildings and structures within the district.
Response: The relationship of the entrance and porch is visually compatible, however the 
style of the entry door is not compatible.

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the facade of a building shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings and 
structures of a similar style located within the historic district.
Response: The material and texture of the leaded glass door is not visually compatible with 
historic structures and styles of architecture.

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with 
the roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the 
historic district.
Response: The main roof shape is visually compatible with the neighboring properties as well 
as the district.

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape 
masses and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along a 
street to insure visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which it is 
visually related.
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided are consistent with this 
requirement.

(10)The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, 
porches and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and 
places to which it is visually related.
Response: The building minimally meets this criteria.

(11)A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to which 
it is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-directional.



3

Response: The Applicant has provided a streetscape showing the building in relation to those 
to either side of it, and across the street. The building’s height and massing are compatible
with other single-family residential buildings on the block.

(12)The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to which 
it is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same style of 
buildings in the district. New construction or additions to a building are encouraged to be 
appropriate to the style of the period in which it is created and not attempt to create a false 
sense of history. 
Response: The building is a contemporary minimalistic masonry vernacular design that 
employs elements of traditional vernacular cottage architecture.

(13)Landscaping shall be compatible with the architectural character and appearance of the 
structure and of other buildings located within the historic district.
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided at this point are consistent with 
this requirement.  The landscape plan will be reviewed by Staff at permitting.

(14)In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical systems 
which affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-way, the 
following criteria shall be considered:

(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original 
location, where possible.
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not be 
placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades.
Response: Staff will ensure that any mechanical systems for the new building meet 
this criterion.

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical 
integrity of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, 
invasion or visual obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its 
significant historic, cultural or architectural features.
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(15)The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility 
and service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the overall 
environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and structures.
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided are consistent with this 
requirement.

B.  In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall apply 
the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

















Jerry Jean Stambaugh, Pharm.D. 

313 N Palmway, Lake Worth, FL  33460-3518 
 

 

April 29, 2016 

City of Lake Worth 

Historic Resources Preservation Board  

 

Members of the Board: 

 

I am requesting that you consider my submission of an alternate selection for the front door of 
my new house from the one approved by the Board at the plans original submission. It was not 
my original intention to have a clear glass insert and I apologize for the misunderstanding.  

The clear glass insert that was approved by the Board would provide no privacy to my home as 
it would allow any one on the street to see all the way through the house. It would require 
installing some sort of privacy covering inside the front door – curtains, blinds, etc. Since this 
would be visible through the door it would detract from the street appearance of the house.  

A more acceptable alternative might have been a solid frosted glass. However, while this could 
provide the desired privacy, it also caused all of the front entrance to run together as one white 
blur that added nothing to the overall character or appearance of the house. 

Instead we selected a frosted, leaded glass panel that has a simple craftsman-like design. This 
provides privacy while still allowing the door to stand out from the rest of the entrance way. 
The door is actually very similar to several others in the neighborhood and does not distract 
from the over-all design of the house while allowing it to blend with other homes in the 
neighborhood. 

I hope that you will rule favorably on this request for a revision to the approved COA. 

 

Thank you for your consideration, 

 

Jerry Jean Stambaugh 



















































 
City Of Lake Worth 

Department for Community Sustainability 

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division 

1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687  
  

 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   June 1, 2016 
 
AGENDA DATE:  June 8, 2016 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   402-410 North M Street 
 
FROM:  Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 14-00100132 and 14-01400006: Consideration of a Revision to an approved 
Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) and Minor Site Plan Amendment for construction of a new enclosed 
covered sports pavilion at the subject property located at 402-410 North M Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-108-
0010. The subject property is located within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 
 

OWNER:  Diocese of Palm Beach 

   9995 N. Military Trail 

   Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33418 

AGENT: Rick Gonzalez, AIA 

               REG Architects, Inc. 

               300 Clematis St. 3rd Floor 

               West Palm Beach, FL 33401 

 

BACKGROUND:  

The portion of the subject property under consideration is a non-contributing open field located within the 
same parcel as the Sacred Heart Church and School, and within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 
The portion of property to the East of North M Street is a +/- 2.48 acre developed site located currently within 
the Single-Family and Two-Family Residential 14 du/net acre (SF-TF-14) zoning district.  According to the 
Building Permit Property Files various permits and city approvals were filed for by the Sacred Heart Catholic 
Parish Church as early as 1940. The Property has a documented history of use as a religious site with a convent, 
rectory, and chapel previously occupying the land facing Federal Highway, where the current play field is 
located. In addition to the existing play field, the education buildings have been built and expanded over the 
years on the property facing North M Street according to the Building Permit Property Files. The Property is 
currently used as the Sacred Heart Catholic Church and School, since 1944 according to the schools webpage. 
 
The HRPB reviewed and approved a Certificate of Appropriateness, a Site Plan Amendment, a Conditional Land 
Use, and a Variance for Impermeable Surface in September and October 2014 for the construction of an open-
air covered 6,100 square foot accessory sports pavilion.  Construction commenced on the sports pavilion in 
February 2016. 

 

 



HRPB PR No. 14-00100132 
402-410 North M Street 

COA Application – Revision 
Page 2 

 

 

2 

 

REQUEST:  
The Applicant is requesting a revision to the previous approvals to allow for an enclosed, air-conditioned 
pavilion, rather than an open-air pavilion.  The request includes an amendment to the COA for new 
construction in order to allow the building to be enclosed and a Minor Site Plan Amendment for the placement 
and location of associated mechanical equipment. 
 
The building previously approved is a 6,100 square foot, metal accessory sports pavilion, with a new basketball 
court, movable bleacher-style seating, restrooms, and storage area in the open field area of the existing 
private school. 
 

The proposed accessory structure will be located near the southeast corner of the school’s play field.  The 
Applicant has provided proposed architectural plans for the building enclosure, including a site plan, floor 
plans, and elevations. The style of the proposed building has not changed, and is contemporary, with many 
elements reflecting traditional vernacular architecture, as well as the mid-century character of the existing 
church.  It will be an enclosed concrete block building that will be clad with stucco and ornamented in a simple 
vernacular style. The roof will be diamond-shaped metal shingles. All elevations will be highly visible given the 
location of the proposed structure. The building is designed to be compatible with existing school buildings 
and its surroundings. 
 
ANALYSIS:   

 
Zoning Consistency – Minor Site Plan Amendment  

The proposed minor site plan amendment to include the mechanical equipment is fundamentally compatible 
with the zoning code concerning the location of the proposed equipment.  Staff does have one concern 
regarding the impermeable surface proposal, and has included a condition of approval to address this concern. 
 
The Applicant has provided a plan showing the proposed landscaping screen to shield the mechanical 
equipment.  Final review and approval will take place during the building permit process. 

 

Historic Preservation - COA 

New construction within a local historic district is also subject to specific criteria for visual compatibility as set 
forth in Section 23.5-4(k)3 of the City’s historic preservation regulations. These criteria are provided in 
Attachment 1 and include Staff’s response to each criterion. The criteria deal with massing, scale, materials, 
and design compatibility with the surrounding historic district.  

 
It is the analysis of Staff that the revised project as proposed is fundamentally compatible with the regulations 
set forth in the historic preservation ordinance.  Staff has some concern over the detailing of the doors and 
infilled stucco recesses, and has proposed conditions of approval to address these concerns.  The sunburst 
semi-circular pattern over the double French doors is not in keeping with the design of the single light French 
doors.  Staff has recommended removing this element.  The recessed stucco panels are quite plain and 
expansive, and Staff has suggested that these openings, particularly facing Federal Highway, could receive 
artwork or murals in order to increase visual interest on the blank façade.  
 
Public Comment 
At the time of publication of the agenda, Staff has not received any public comments regarding this project. 



HRPB PR No. 14-00100132 
402-410 North M Street 

COA Application – Revision 
Page 3 

 

 

3 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY: 

The project, as proposed, is consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan goals and objectives concerning 
future land use and housing: 

 

Goal 1.3 To preserve and enhance the City’s community character as a quality residential and business center 
within the Palm Beach County urban area. (Objective 1.3.4) 

 

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2) 
 
CONSEQUENT ACTION:   
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:   
Staff recommends approval of the request for a revision to the COA for new construction with the following 
conditions: 

1) On the north and south elevations, the arched glazed openings shall not have a decorative sunburst 
pattern in the transom. 

2) On the east elevation, the three arched stucco recess panels shall be considered to receive artwork or 
murals.  The artwork or murals shall be approved by the HRPB at a later date. 

3) All Certificate of Appropriateness conditions previously approved for case #14-00100132 at the 
September 10, 2014, HRPB meeting shall apply.  All Conditional Land Use, Site Plan, and Variance 
conditions previously approved for case #14-01400006 shall apply.  Where a conflict exists between 
the original approval and the revision, the revision elevations and conditions of approval shall take 
precedence. 

 
Staff recommends approval of the request for a Minor Site Plan Amendment with the following conditions: 

1) The Applicant shall provide calculations showing that the proposal, including the mechanical 
equipment, does not exceed the impermeable surface amount approved by variance case #14-
01400006.  Because the proposed mechanical equipment pads will add impermeable surface, the site 
plan will need to remove impermeable surface elsewhere, subject to Staff review and approval prior to 
mechanical equipment installation. 

 
POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE/DENY HRPB PR# 14-00100132: Consideration of a Revision to a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for new construction at the subject property located at 402-410 North M Street, with 
the conditions recommended by Staff. 
 
I MOVE TO APPROVE/DENY HRPB PR# 14-01400006: Consideration of a Minor Site Plan Amendment to install 
mechanical equipment for the enclosed new construction sports pavilion at the subject property located at 
402-410 North M Street, with the conditions recommended by Staff. 
 
 
 
 



HRPB PR No. 14-00100132 
402-410 North M Street 

COA Application – Revision 
Page 4 

 

 

4 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Decision Criteria – New Construction 
2. Architectural Revision Drawings  
3. Previous Approval Letters 
4. Window and Door Information 

 
 

LOCATION MAP 
 
 

 
 

 



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planner
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 14-00100132 and 14-01400006: Consideration of a 
Revision to an approved Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) and Minor Site Plan 
Amendment for construction of a new enclosed covered sports pavilion at the 
subject property located at 402-410 North M Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-108-
0010. The subject property is located within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Section 23.5-4k(3) Additional guidelines for new construction; visual compatibility

All improvements to buildings, structures and appurtenances within a designated historic district 
shall be visually compatible. New buildings should take their design cues from the surrounding 
existing structures, using traditional or contemporary design standards and elements that relate to 
existing structures that surround them and within the historic district as a whole. Building design 
styles, whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually compatible with the existing 
structures in the district.

A.  In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the 
City shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility:

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the 
height of existing buildings located within the historic district.
Response: The proposed building is taller than many 1-story single family residences in 
the district.  The height is more comparable to that of the Sacred Heart Church located 
directly East of the site.  Given the building’s use and function, and it’s compliance with 
the zoning code height restrictions, this building meets this criterion. 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of 
existing buildings located within the district.
Response: The width and height of the front elevations of the proposed building is 
larger than most buildings within the district.  Overall, the building’s proportion is more 
horizontal than many structures.  However, given the height restriction of 24 feet for 
accessory structures, and the width needed to accommodate a basketball court and 
bleachers, the proportion was greatly driven by those factors.



2

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and 
in harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within 
the historic district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the 
height of the windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings 
within the district.
Response: The proposed openings are larger than typical window and door openings in 
this district, however this being an enclosed sports pavilion as opposed to a single family 
residence makes the openings not directly comparable.  The openings appear to be 
appropriate in context of the scale of the building.  The stucco panels being used to 
enclose the building are fairly plain, and Staff has recommended that artwork or murals 
be installed in these recessed arches.

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or 
structures located within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of 
existing narrow structures can be divided into smaller bays which will complement the 
visual setting and the streetscape.
Response: This building does not present one long, unbroken façade.  The proposed 
structure takes several design cues from the neighboring Sacred Heart Church.

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere 
within the district.
Response: The proposed building respects the front, side, and rear setbacks within the 
current zoning code.  The scale of the proposed structure is much larger than typical 
single family homes within the district, and therefore the relationship of the building to 
open space is significantly different.

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances 
and porch projections on buildings and structures within the district.
Response: The building does not have an entrance porch, and given the use as a sports 
pavilion, it cannot reasonably be compared to other residential buildings in the district.

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the facade of a building shall be 
visually compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the 
buildings and structures of a similar style located within the historic district.
Response: The building will be concrete block and metal finished with stucco.  Although 
metal is not common in the district, the stucco finish once complete will make the 
exterior compatible with other buildings in the district.

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony 
with the roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located 
within the historic district.
Response: The roof shape is visually compatible with the neighboring properties as well 
as the district.



3

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape 
masses and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along 
a street to insure visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to 
which it is visually related.
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided are consistent with this 
requirement.

(10)The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, 
porches and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings 
and places to which it is visually related.
Response: The building meets this criterion, except for concerns staff has for the 
elevations as described above.

(11)A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to 
which it is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-
directional.
Response: The building’s height, massing, and architectural character are compatible
with the Sacred Heart Church structure located directly west of the proposed sports 
pavilion.  The structure is much larger than other residential structures in the district.

(12)The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to 
which it is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same 
style of buildings in the district. New construction or additions to a building are 
encouraged to be appropriate to the style of the period in which it is created and not 
attempt to create a false sense of history. 
Response: The building is a contemporary design that employs elements of traditional 
vernacular architecture in order to be visually compatible with the surrounding 
properties and the district.

(13)Landscaping shall be compatible with the architectural character and appearance of the 
structure and of other buildings located within the historic district.
Response: The landscape plan will be reviewed when the building permit is submitted.

(14)In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical 
systems which affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-
way, the following criteria shall be considered:

(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original 
location, where possible.
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall 
not be placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades.
Response: The proposed mechanical equipment is located on the north side of 
the building and will be screened with landscaping.

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical 
integrity of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, 



4

invasion or visual obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its 
significant historic, cultural or architectural features.
Response: The proposed mechanical equipment meets this criterion.

(15)The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, 
utility and service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with 
the overall environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings 
and structures.
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the plans provided are consistent with this 
requirement.

B.  In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures which will have 
more than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB 
shall apply the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.  
Response: The criteria have been applied to all façades, due to the highly visible nature of the 
project.







BASKETBALL
COURT

100

STORAGE
101

RR
102

RR
103

BASKETBALL
COURT

100

STORAGE
101

RR
102

RR
103





















City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  720 North Federal Highway

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 15-00100168: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
replacement for the subject property located at 720 North Federal Highway; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-224-0050. The 
subject building was constructed in 1948 and the property is a contributing resource within the Northeast 
Lucerne Local Historic District.

OWNER: Ministerio Evangelistico Fuente de Salvacion, Inc.

 Carlos Quintana, Representative

 720 N Federal Hwy

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

This case was heard before the HRPB on March 11, 2015, under case #15-00100042, and the request was 
denied by the Board.  This case was also heard before the HRPB on October 14, 2015, under case #15-
00100168, and the request was denied by the Board.  The applicant has re-applied for a COA for vinyl window 
replacement for the windows on the 1947 building and 1973 building addition only, however the proposed 
window type and configuration have not changed from the previous requests.  Staff does not feel that this re-
submittal addresses the previous concerns of Staff and the Board, and the request is not appropriate for the 
structure.  Staff is recommending that the Board uphold the previous denial decisions, and deny this request 
as well.

This property contains a church and two connected church buildings.  The church was originally constructed as 
the Church of Christ and designed by local architect Edgar S. Wortman in 1948 in the Mediterranean Influence 
style.  Several earlier buildings existed on the church property, including 2 single family residences which were 
later demolished, and a classroom building which was constructed in 1947, also designed by Wortman, and is 
located directly to the east of the current church.  An L-shaped wing was added to the church building in 1973 to 
provide additional support and ministry spaces.  This later addition was done in a sympathetic style and manner 
to the original church, and was designed by H.T. Smith, a former associate of Edgar S. Wortman.  The building 
has public frontage facing North Federal Highway to the west and 8th Avenue to the north. 



HRPB No. 16-00100098
720 North Federal Highway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 2

2

Based on historical documentation in the City’s property file, the building has undergone few changes over time.  
Operable impact shutters were added to many windows, the front door of the church was changed, and the 
classroom addition was built in 1973.  The church and associated interconnected church buildings still retain a 
high level of historic integrity including location, materials, craftsmanship, setting, design, and feeling, and retain 
many features including the barrel tile roofs, original metal windows, original trim, window sills, door surrounds, 
and many interior design elements.

In March 2016, Staff approved a revision resubmittal in accordance with the direction from the HRPB to allow 
replacement of (10) original arched church windows with silver aluminum fixed windows, with triangular 
muntins and mullions installed in order to replicate the existing windows.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is proposing to replace all of the original metal windows on the 1947 and 1973 classroom and 
support buildings.  The proposed replacement windows are inappropriate white, vinyl, single-hung style 
windows with blue-green tinted glass.  The windows do conform to the existing opening sizes; however, the 
layout and design are not compatible and do not accurately replicate the existing window configurations.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change that will have 
an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property. Specifically, the request is in conflict with these 
objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the 
City of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and applied the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:



HRPB No. 16-00100098
720 North Federal Highway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 3

3

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

Staff has met with the property owner, as well as the window salesman, and analyzed the current windows.  The 
original windows on the addition are unique and were constructed per the architect’s design drawings.  These 
windows are an important aspect of the building’s historic integrity and should be maintained.  The windows 
appear to be in good condition, with little deterioration.  Many windows on the addition have impact shutters, 
and are not in need of immediate impact protection.  Impact colonial shutters or removable shutter panels or 
fabric screens could be installed in the remaining openings if impact protection is desired.

The single hung windows on the 1947 and 1973 church buildings are not deteriorated to the extent that they 
cannot be repaired.  Similarly to the church windows, some windows need to have new glazing putty and caulk 
applied to create a more weatherproof seal.  The proposed windows for these locations are white, vinyl, single-
hung windows, and do not reflect the same divided light configuration.  Staff recommends that the applicant 
consult with a window repair specialist to analyze and determine if window repair is feasible.  If not, the windows 
could be most closely replicated with aluminum single-hung windows with a clear anodized or silver mill finish, 
with exterior raised applied triangular muntins to replicate the 2/2 divided light pattern.

Therefore, Staff recommends that the Board deny the request as submitted.  The applicant is proposing an 
exterior alteration that will have an adverse effect in the integrity of the historic property and is not in 
compliance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standard for Rehabilitation or the City of Lake Worth’s Historic 
Preservation Ordinance.  

If the Board chooses to approve replacement windows for this property, Staff recommends the following 
conditions:

1) The windows on the 1947 church building shall be either 1/1 aluminum single-hung windows or 8-light 
aluminum casement windows per the original architect’s drawings.

2) The windows on the 1973 church building shall be aluminum single-hung windows, with a 2/2 divided 
light configuration to reflect the current window configuration.

3) All windows shall have a clear anodized finish and shall not have reflective or tinted glass.  All muntins 
shall be created using exterior raised applied muntins.  No flat or internal muntins shall be permitted.

4) The Applicant shall utilize light gray screens rather than dark vinyl screens in order to minimize the 
impact of the panes of glass sitting in different visual planes.

5) All windows shall be installed to the same recessed depth in the jam as the existing windows.
6) All work shall be subject to staff review during permitting and inspection during construction.
7) Only the windows on the 1947 and 1973 church buildings shall be replaced.



HRPB No. 16-00100098
720 North Federal Highway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 4

4

POTENTIAL MOTIONS:  

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
replacement for the subject building located at 720 North Federal Highway because the Applicant has not 
established by a preponderance of the evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake Worth 
Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the Rehabilitation of 
Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100092: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
replacement for the subject building located at 720 North Federal Highway, with the conditions as 
recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the 
City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria
2. Application Photographs
3. Resubmittal Application
4. Window List and Plan Diagram
5. Original Architectural Drawings

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 15-00100168: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for window replacement for the subject property located 
at 720 North Federal Highway; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-224-0050. The subject 
building was constructed in 1948 and the property is a contributing resource 
within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the work proposed would have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with its historic design or style.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. However, the work would have an indirect 
visual impact on the integrity and character of the historic district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and 
detailing of the building by altering the type, material, and configuration of the windows.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the home, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.

F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:



(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is proposing alterations to the fenestration of the building that would change
the historic appearance of the building and have a negative impact on the historic integrity and design 
of the building.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: The 1973 addition is an example of a change that has occurred over time and has acquired 
historical significance.  Although constructed at a later time period, the design and detailing of the 
addition was done in a compatible Mediterranean Influence style.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: Changing the fenestration type, size, and divided light configuration would have an adverse 
effect on the building and affect the building’s ability to convey an accurate example of its style and 
history.  

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Staff recommends repair of the existing original windows where possible.  In the event that 
a window repair professional determines that repair is not an option, Staff has outlined conditions for 
replacement windows in order to most closely match the original design intent.  The new windows 
could be silver aluminum 2/2 single-hung windows without tinted glass, which would most closely 
replicate the composition, design, color, and visual quality of the windows.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: The proposed replacement windows do not match the existing in type, material, and 
configuration and would have an adverse effect on the character of the property.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested 
window replacements do not represent the least possible adverse affect on the property as there is 
an alternative option, described by Staff, which respects the building’s historical design and style.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: The fenestration appearance, which is a distinctive architectural feature of the building,
would be changed by the proposed window replacements.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings of the structure; 
and
Response: The replacement windows do conform to the existing overall window openings, however 
the proposed replacement church windows do not conform to the existing type and configuration.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant.









































































































City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  213 Fordham Drive

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100108: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
replacement for the single-family structure located at 213 Fordham Drive; PCN# 38434415060083290.  The 
subject property was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource within the College Park Local 
Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Alfred Deluca

213 Fordham Drive

Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure at 213 Fordham was designed by engineer, Karl Riddle, the chief engineer to Addison 
Mizner, for Owner/Contractor Lew Jones.  The property has public frontage on Fordham Drive to the north.  The 
building was constructed in a Masonry Vernacular with Colonial Revival influence architectural style, and still 
retains all of its character defining features.  These character defining features include the decorative front porch 
and columns, the original silver aluminum awning windows, and concrete masonry construction with a smooth 
stucco finish.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files.  Based on the 
information in the property file, minimal exterior alterations have occurred over time, including a roof 
replacement with white concrete tile.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of historic integrity of location, 
setting, materials, and design.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant is proposing exterior modifications to the building as follows:

1) Replace the existing original silver awning windows with white aluminum single-hung windows.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a change 



HRPB No. 16-00100108
213 Fordham Drive

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 2

2

that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in conflict 
with these objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the 
City of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will be 
restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to the 
extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 – Decision 
Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship 
that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, and Section 23.5-4.  

According to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards, distinctive materials that characterize a property shall be 
preserved.  The original silver aluminum awning windows are an important character defining feature on this 
structure.  The Applicant is requesting to replace these windows with white single-hung windows.  The type, 
finish, and configuration of the proposed windows is not consistent with the original windows for this structure.  



HRPB No. 16-00100108
213 Fordham Drive

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 3

3

According to the Standards and the Code, the windows should be repaired if at all possible, and if repair is not 
possible, replacement windows should match the design, color, texture, and materials of the existing windows.  
Staff has recommended impact silver aluminum casement windows with exterior raised applied triangular 
muntins to replicate the appearance of the original windows.  Unfortunately, the existing window openings are 
too large for a single casement window.  Staff and the Applicant have researched alternative window 
replacement options with impact glass, including casement, hopper, and awning windows, and have not located a 
compatible replacement match for the large openings.  The large 3-pane window on the front of the structure are 
too large for these types of windows.  

The Applicant has requested white aluminum single-hung windows as the most feasible option.  The single-hung 
windows could have exterior raised applied triangular muntins added in order to closely replicate the pattern of 
the existing windows.  Additionally, clear anodized, or silver mill finish windows would most closely replicate the 
existing color and appearance of the silver windows.  Due to the lack of a compatible replacement material, staff 
will defer the decision to the board on the most appropriate course of action. 

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff recommends that the Board discuss the request for window replacement with an alternate material.  The 
proposal, as submitted by the Applicant does not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 
Rehabilitation, does not meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations 
§23.5-4(k), and will have an adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.

If the Board chooses to approve new replacement windows for the building, Staff recommends the following 
conditions:

1) Replacement windows shall be single-hung type windows, match the original window opening sizes, and 
have a divided light pattern that replicates the original aluminum awning windows.  Where 3-light awning 
windows exist, they shall be replaced with 2/2 (4 light) windows.

2) The divided light pattern shall be created by using exterior raised applied triangular muntins to replicate 
the pane configuration of the awning windows.  No flat or internal muntins shall be allowed.  The proper 
divided light pattern shall be reviewed by Staff at permitting.

3) The aluminum window replacements shall have a clear anodized or silver mill finish in order to most 
closely replicate the original aluminum windows.

4) The Applicant shall utilize light gray screens rather than dark vinyl screens in order to minimize the 
impact of the panes of glass sitting in different visual planes.

5) No reflective or mirrored glass shall be used.
6) All work shall be subject to staff review during permitting and inspection during construction.



HRPB No. 16-00100108
213 Fordham Drive

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 4

4

POTENTIAL MOTIONS:  

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100108: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and 
door replacement for the subject building located at 213 Fordham Drive because the Applicant has established by 
a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is not in compliance with the City of 
Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors Standards for the 
Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100108: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
and door replacement for the subject building located at 213 Fordham Drive, with the conditions as 
recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the 
City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria
2. Photographs 
3. Justification Statement
4. Proposed Windows 
5. Original Architectural Drawings

LOCATION MAP



HRPB No. 16-00100108
213 Fordham Drive

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 5

5



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Preservation Planning Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100108: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for window replacement for the single-family structure 
located at 213 Fordham Drive; PCN# 38-43-44-15-06-008-3290.  The subject 
property was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource within the 
College Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k (1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the work proposed would have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or style.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding College Park Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect on 
the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and 
detailing of the building by removing the historic aluminum awning windows and replacing them with 
white aluminum single-hung windows.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is proposing to remove (3) windows that are character defining features of 
this property.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The original windows are an example of craftsmanship that characterizes not only this 
structure, but also the time period and architectural style in general.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: The proposed window replacement does not match the existing in style, composition, 
design, or color.  

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: The proposed alterations remove historic windows that characterize the property.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested 
exterior alterations do not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  There are 
alternate options, including repair of the existing windows, and replacement in a clear anodized finish.

Section 23.5-4k (2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: The windows can be considered a distinctive architectural feature and should not be 
removed unless the level of deterioration is such that the windows cannot be repaired.  In that case, 
the replacement windows should replicate the original windows as closely as possible.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: The applicant meets this criterion.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Staff must defer to the applicant.





































City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  822 South Palmway

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100132: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
window replacement for the single-family structure located at 822 South Palmway; PCN# 
38-43-44-27-01-023-0030.  The subject property was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource 
within the South Palm Park Local Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT:  William Robeson

 822 S Palmway

 Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure at 822 South Palmway was constructed in 1953 by architect Henry E. Penny and 
contractor John Lynch for Mr. and Mrs. C. Becker.  The property has public frontage on two streets; South 
Palmway to the west and South Lakeside Drive to the east.  The building is a Mid-Century Masonry Vernacular 
architectural style.  Character defining features of the building include the one-story construction, original 
aluminum awning windows, recessed panel garage door, and concrete masonry construction with a smooth 
stucco finish.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files. Based on the 
information in the property file, some exterior alterations have occurred over time.  The original white 
concrete tile roof was replaced with asphalt shingle, the addition of an in-ground pool with screen cage in the 
rear, a screened in front porch, and removable hurricane clamshell shutters were installed.  Overall, the 
building retains a good degree of historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and design.

REQUEST: 

The Applicant has submitted plans to replace all (14) of the original aluminum awning and jalousie windows 
with PGT impact white aluminum horizontal roller windows and white aluminum single-hung windows.  The 
windows are proposed to be replaced in the existing openings, however the divided light configuration and 



HRPB No. 16-00100132
822 South Palmway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 2

2

appearance of the windows is proposed to change.    The application is also proposing to replace the existing 
sliding glass door with a new aluminum impact sliding glass door in white.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals 
and objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a 
change that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in 
conflict with these objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the 
City of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will 
be restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to 
the extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 –
Decision Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be 
avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

It is the analysis of Staff that the project as proposed is not compatible with the review criteria set forth in the 
City’s Land Development Regulations, Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 23.5-4.  



HRPB No. 16-00100132
822 South Palmway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 3

3

The Applicant has requested white aluminum horizontal roller windows in the larger openings and single-hung 
windows in the smaller openings.  The type, finish, and configuration of the proposed windows is not 
consistent with the original windows for this structure.  The horizontal roller windows have a strong vertical 
orientation, while the original awning windows have horizontal panes.  Horizontal roller style windows are not 
visually compatible with awning windows, as the glass sits in different visual planes with a screen on half of the 
opening, and the frames are substantially thicker, especially the bottom rail.  The larger frames substantially 
reduce the amount of glazing area in each window as compared to the historic aluminum awning windows.

According to the Standards and the Code, the windows should be repaired if at all possible, and if repair is not 
possible, replacement windows should match the design, color, texture, and materials of the existing windows.  
Staff has recommended impact silver aluminum casement windows with exterior raised applied triangular 
muntins to replicate the appearance of the original windows.  Unfortunately, several of the existing window 
openings are too large for a single casement window.  Staff has researched alternative window replacement 
options with impact glass, including casement, hopper, and awning windows, and has not located a compatible 
replacement match for the larger openings.  It would be possible to use casement, awning, or hopper windows 
in many of the openings, however the large 3-pane and 4-pane windows on the front and rear of the structure 
are too large for these types of windows.  

If window replacements are considered, the most historically compatible replacement option is single 
casement windows where possible in the smaller openings, and single-hung windows in the larger openings.  
All windows should have exterior raised applied triangular muntins added in order to closely replicate the 
pattern of the existing windows.  Where 3-pane awning windows exist that are too large to be replaced with a 
casement window, they could be replaced with a 2/2 single-hung window.  The 3-part front window could be 
replaced with a combination of fixed and casement windows, or a horizontal roller window.  Additionally, clear 
anodized, or silver mill finish windows would most closely replicate the existing color and appearance of the 
silver windows.  

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board deny the application as submitted, given that the replacement windows as 
proposed by the Applicant do not meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, do not 
meet the criteria set forth in the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and will have 
an adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.

If the Board chooses to approve new replacement windows for the building, Staff recommends the following 
conditions:

1) Replacement windows shall be aluminum casement windows, match the original window opening 
sizes, and have a divided light pattern that replicates the original aluminum awning windows.

2) If aluminum casement windows do not come in a large enough size to fit the original opening then 
replacement windows shall be single-hung type windows, match the original window opening sizes,



HRPB No. 16-00100132
822 South Palmway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 4

4

and have a divided light pattern that replicates the original aluminum awning windows.  Where 3-light 
awning windows exist, they shall be replaced with 2/2 (4 light) windows.

3) The divided light pattern shall be created by using exterior raised applied triangular muntins to 
replicate the pane configuration of the awning windows.  No flat or internal muntins shall be allowed.  
The proper divided light pattern shall be reviewed by Staff at permitting.

4) All windows shall be installed to the same recessed depth in the jam as the existing windows.
5) The aluminum window replacements and sliding glass door replacement shall have a clear anodized or 

silver mill finish in order to most closely replicate the original aluminum windows.
6) The Applicant shall utilize light gray screens rather than dark vinyl screens in order to minimize the 

impact of the panes of glass sitting in different visual planes.
7) No reflective or mirrored glass shall be used.
8) All work shall be subject to staff review during permitting and inspection during construction.

POTENTIAL MOTIONS:  

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100132: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window and 
door replacement for the subject building located at 822 South Palmway because the Applicant has not 
established by a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance 
with the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors 
Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100132: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for window 
and door replacement for the subject building located at 822 South Palmway, with the conditions as 
recommended by Staff, based upon the preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to 
the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria
2. Photographs
3. Justification Statement
4. Proposed Window and Door Information
5. Original Architectural Drawings



HRPB No. 16-00100132
822 South Palmway

COA Application – Window Replacement
Page 5

5

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100132: Consideration of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for window replacement for the single-family structure 
located at 822 South Palmway; PCN# 38-43-44-27-01-023-0030.  The subject 
property was constructed in 1953 and is a non-contributing resource within the 
South Palm Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the work proposed would have an adverse effect on the 
historic appearance of the building, and is not compatible with the design or style.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding South Palm Park Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect 
on the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that is not compatible with the architectural design and 
detailing of the building by removing the historic aluminum awning windows and replacing them with 
white aluminum horizontal roller and single hung windows.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is proposing to remove (14) windows and (1) sliding glass door that are 
character defining features of this property.

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The original windows are an example of craftsmanship that characterizes not only this 
structure, but also the time period and architectural style in general.

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: The proposed window replacement does not match the existing in style, composition, 
design, or color.  Specifically replacing horizontal awning windows with horizontal roller windows with 
a vertical proportion is altering the visual appearance of the structure.

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: The proposed alterations remove historic windows that characterize the property.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be adversely 
affected by the proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The requested 
exterior alterations do not represent the least possible adverse effect on the property.  There are 
alternate options, including repair of the existing windows, or replacement with impact casement 
windows in a clear anodized finish, with exterior raised applied muntins to replicate the existing 
divided light pattern.

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: The windows can be considered a distinctive architectural feature and should not be 
removed unless the level of deterioration is such that the windows cannot be repaired.  In that case, 
the replacement windows should replicate the original windows as closely as possible.

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: The applicant meets this criterion.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: The applicant has indicated that a clear anodized finish will increase the cost by 31%, 
however Staff investigation indicates that the silver finish increases cost by approximately 15%.











































































City Of Lake Worth
Department for Community Sustainability

Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Division
1900 Second Avenue North · Lake Worth · Florida 33461· Phone: 561-586-1687

MEMORANDUM DATE:  June 1, 2016

AGENDA DATE: June 8, 2016

TO:  Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

RE:  1516 South Palmway

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department for Community Sustainability

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 16-00100101: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
exterior stucco alterations for the single-family structure located at 1516 South Palmway; PCN#3843442701-
0860041.  The subject property was constructed in 1948 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District.

OWNER/APPLICANT: Thomas Cassano
1516 South Palmway
Lake Worth, FL 33460

BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure at 1516 South Palmway was constructed in 1948 by architect Edgar S. Wortman, 
and contractor L.E. Welch for Mr. Harry Seitz.  The property has public frontage on two streets; South 
Palmway to the west and South Lakeside Drive to the east.  The building is a Mid-Century Masonry with 
Colonial Revival Influence architectural style.  Character defining features of the building include the original 
oversized metal casement windows, decorative stucco quoins, tandem 2-car garage, front porch configuration 
with brick planters, large brick chimney, crawl space with decorative vents, and concrete masonry 
construction with a smooth stucco finish.

The original architectural plans for the building are available in the City’s property files and have been 
included as Attachment 4.  Based on the information in the property file, some exterior alterations have 
occurred over time.  The original white barrel tile roof was replaced with asphalt shingle, the rear decorative 
screen porch was enclosed with awning windows, the colonial shutters were replaced with metal awnings, 
and the front porch columns and front door were altered.  Overall, the building retains a high degree of 
historic integrity of location, setting, materials, and design.

REQUEST: 

In December 2015, Staff issued an administrative approval to remove the acrylic stucco coating and install a 
new smooth texture stucco to replicate the original stucco design.  The stucco that was installed is not 
smooth, and the Applicant is now requesting approval for a “knock down” or two-tone lace texture stucco on 
the entire exterior of the structure.  



HRPB No. 16-00100101
1516 South Palmway

COA Application – Stucco Alterations
Page 2

2

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY:

It is the analysis of Staff that the project, as proposed, is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals 
and objectives concerning historic preservation and housing due to the fact that the Applicant is proposing a 
change that will have an adverse effect on the historic integrity of the property.  Specifically, the request is in 
conflict with these objectives:

Goal 1.4 Encourage preservation and rehabilitation of historic and natural resources and where appropriate 
restrict development that would damage or destroy these resources. (Objective 1.4.2)

Objective 3.2.5:  To encourage the identification of historically significant housing, and to promote its 
preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted for the 
City of Lake Worth.

Policy 3.2.5.1:  Properties of special value for historic, architectural, cultural or aesthetic reasons will 
be restored and preserved through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance to 
the extent feasible.

ANALYSIS:  
Zoning
The proposed alterations are not in conflict with the development requirements in the City’s Zoning Code.  

Historic Preservation

Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable 
guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in Attachment 1 –
Decision Criteria.

The National Park Service and Secretary of the Interior’s Standards have very specific criteria regarding 
replacement of historic materials.  Specifically Standards 2, 5, and 6 apply in this situation:

Standard 2 - The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that characterize a property will be 
avoided.

Standard 5 - Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.

Standard 6 - Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the old in design, color, 
texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

According to the Standards and the Code, when repair or replacement of stucco is necessary, the new stucco 
should match the old in composition, design, texture, and materials.  The acrylic spraycoat on the structure 
was not original, therefore the new stucco should match the original stucco finish.  Given the information on 
the architectural drawings and other contemporary buildings in Lake Worth designed by Edgar S. Wortman, 



HRPB No. 16-00100101
1516 South Palmway

COA Application – Stucco Alterations
Page 3

3

the original stucco finish was smooth.  Notations on the drawings do not indicate any type of applied stucco 
texture, only that the stucco should be scored to form the quoins.

According to Preservation Brief #22, “The Preservation and Repair of Historic Stucco,” when planning a repair, 
stucco samples “should be placed next to the stucco remaining on the building to compare the color, texture 
and composition of the samples with the original. The number and thickness of stucco coats used in the repair 
should also match the original” and “the finish coat should be worked to match the texture of the original 
stucco.”

The Brief concludes by saying that “When repairing historic stucco, the new stucco should duplicate the old as 
closely as possible in strength, composition, color and texture.”

The stucco texture that has been installed on the quoins is smooth, however the depth of the decorative 
quoins has been minimized with the installation of the “knock-down” finish on the walls. The stucco texture 
that has been installed on the walls is considered by some to be a “smooth knock-down” finish as opposed to a 
“completely smooth finish.”  Given that both finishes can be considered “smooth” with a variation in the 
amount of texture, Staff can say that the “smooth knock-down” finish is minimally compatible.  When 
compared to the original stucco and the architectural style, the most compatible exterior stucco is a 
completely smooth finish.  

Public Comment
At the time of publication of this report, Staff has not received any public comment regarding this project. 

CONSEQUENT ACTION:  
Approve the application; approve the application with conditions; continue the hearing to a date certain to 
request additional information; or deny the application.

RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends that the Board discuss the application as submitted and the compatibility of the stucco 
textures, given the difference between a “smooth knock-down” finish and a “completely smooth” finish.  The 
new stucco texture does represent a visible exterior alteration, and the Board should consider the decision 
criteria set forth in the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, the criteria set forth in the City 
of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations §23.5-4(k), and whether or not the change in stucco texture will 
have an adverse effect on the integrity and character of the property.

POTENTIAL MOTIONS:  
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB 16-00100101: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an alternate 
stucco texture for the subject building located at 1516 South Palmway because the Applicant has not 
established by a preponderance of the competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance 
with the City of Lake Worth Land Development Regulations Section 23.5-4, the Secretary of the interiors 
Standards for the Rehabilitation of Historic Properties, and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB 16-00100101: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for an 
alternate stucco texture for the subject building located at 1516 South Palmway, based upon the 
preponderance of competent substantial evidence, and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Land Development 
Regulations Section 23.5-4.



HRPB No. 16-00100101
1516 South Palmway

COA Application – Stucco Alterations
Page 4

4

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Decision Criteria
2. Photographs 
3. Justification Statement
4. Original Architectural Drawings
5. Preservation Brief #22 “The Preservation and Repair of Historic Stucco”

LOCATION MAP



MEMORANDUM

DATE: June 1, 2016

TO: Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board

FROM: Aimee N. Sunny, Senior Preservation Coordinator
Department of Community Sustainability

SUBJECT: HRPB Project Number 16-00100101: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for exterior stucco alterations for the single-family structure located at 1516 
South Palmway; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-086-0041.  The subject property was constructed 
in 1948 and is a contributing resource within the South Palm Park Local Historic District.

HRPB Meeting Date: June 8, 2016

Per Section 23.5-4k(1) of the historic preservation ordinance, the Board shall use the 
following criteria in making a determination:

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such work 
is to be done?  

Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the work proposed would alter the exterior appearance of 
the historic building.

B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or other 
property in the historic district?  
Response: The proposed work will have no direct physical effect on any surrounding properties within 
the surrounding South Palm Park Local Historic District, however it will have an indirect visual effect 
on the district.

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural style, 
design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be affected?   
Response: The Applicant is proposing work that will alter the exterior appearance of the historic 
building by changing the historic smooth stucco finish to a “knock down” or two-tone lace texture 
stucco.

D.  Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 
beneficial use of his property? 
Response: No, the denial of this COA as submitted does not prevent the Applicant from potentially 
proposing other alterations to the structure, nor would it make the building uninhabitable.

E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a reasonable 
time? 
Response: Yes.



F.  Do the plans satisfy the applicable portions of the general criteria contained in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect or as they may be revised from 
time to time? The current version of the Secretary's Guidelines provides as follows:

(1)  A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.  
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed.

(2)  This historic character of the property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic 
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.  
Response: The Applicant is proposing to alter the stucco finish to a “knock down” or two-tone lace 
texture stucco. 

(3)  Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(4) Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their 
own right shall be retained and preserved.   
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(5)  Distinctive features, finishes and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.  
Response: The original smooth stucco is characterized in the mid-century colonial revival architectural 
style of the house. 

(6)  Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In 
the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being replaced in 
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. 
Response: The proposed stucco configuration alters the exterior appearance of the historic building.  
The “knock down” or two-tone lace texture stucco is a more-textured finish than a smooth stucco 
finish. 

Repair or replacement of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of 
features, substantiated by historical, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs 
or because the different architectural elements from other buildings or structures happen to be 
available for relocation. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(7)  Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials, 
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(8)  Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 
Response: Not applicable to this project.



(9)  New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials that characterize the property. The new construction shall be differentiated from the old 
and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale and architectural features to protect the historic 
integrity of the property and its environment.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

(10)  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such manner 
that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic building and its 
environment would be unimpaired.  
Response: Not applicable to this project.

G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure which 
served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least possible adverse 
effect on those elements or features?  
Response: It is the opinion of Staff that the historic character of the property would be altered by the 
proposed project as submitted by the Applicant, as outlined above.  The proposed stucco 
configuration alters the exterior appearance of the historic building.  The “knock down” or two-tone 
lace texture stucco is a more-textured finish than the smooth texture finish. 

Section 23.5-4k(2). Additional guidelines for alterations.

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations, the HRPB shall 
also consider the following additional guidelines: 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the property for its 
originally intended purpose? 
Response: No change to the use of the property is proposed. 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible. 
Response: The original smooth stucco is characterized in the mid-century colonial revival architectural 
style of the house. 

C. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors, the HRPB shall 
permit the property owner's original design when the HRPB's alternative design would result in an 
increase in cost of thirty (30) percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to 
demonstrate to the HRPB that: 
(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original window openings of the structure; and
Response: The applicant meets this criterion.

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve a savings in 
excess of thirty (30) percent over historically compatible materials otherwise required by this code. 
Response: Not applicable to this project. 

























































 
PLANNING & PRESERVATION DIVISION 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
CITY OF LAKE WORTH 

1900 2
ND

 AVENUE NORTH 
LAKE WORTH, FL 33461 

561.586.1687 

 
 

Planning, Zoning & Historic Preservation Division | Department for Community Sustainability 
City of Lake Worth | 1900 2nd Avenue North | Lake Worth, FL 33461 

 
 

 
This application is required for ALL applications submitted to the Planning, Zoning and Historical 
Preservation Division.  Planning staff can answer any questions you have regarding the applications and 
the processes during Planner On-Call hours (Monday – Friday, 9:00 – 10:30 a.m. and 3:00 – 4:00 p.m.).  
Please make an appointment with planning staff if you require more than 15 minutes with a staff 
member. NOTE: PRE-APPLICATION MEETING REQUIRED FOR ALL CASES TO BE REVIEWED BY THE 
HISTORIC RESOURCES PRESERVATION BOARD. 

 
Application Type (select all that apply): 
 
 Exterior Alterations (roof, windows, doors, etc)      Fence/Wall/Gate   Sign    

 Addition  New Construction            Demolition      Relocation   

 Other:              ______ 

 
 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

Project Location:              

Legal Description:                              ___________________________  

PCN: 38-43-44-___-___-  -    Historic District:    _________ Contributing?:   

# of buildings/structures on property: ___ What type?: _____________________________________ 

Current Use:  _____________________ __ Change of Use Proposed?: __________________________ 

Total Estimated Cost of the Project:           

 Are you requesting consideration of Economic Hardship? ____ If yes, please include required checklist. 

 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

HRPB Project No.  

Associated Project Nos.  

Submittal Date  Sufficiency Date  

Project Planner Assigned  

Total Fee Amount $ _______________     PAID ______________  DUE _____________ 

 

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 2of7 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Project Manager/Contact Person: _H_e_n_ry_ K_u_s_in_s_k_i _______________ _ 

company: Palm Beach Finance & Construction Group Inc. 

Address : 1511 Georgia Ave, West Palm Beach, FL 33401 
(Street Address) 

Phone No. : 561-385-7 444 

(City) (State) (Zip) 

E-Mail Address: henrykgc@gmail.com 

Applicant Name (if different from Project Manager): _________________ _ 

Company: _______________________________ _ 

Address : ________________________________ _ 

(Street Address) (City) (State) (Zip) 

Phone No.: _____________ E-Mai l Address: --------------

i"""ko ""' t:\.c;;; 

Owner Name: Bel Ii ta Cassano 

Address: 1516 S Palmway, Lake Worth, FL 33460 
(Street Address) (City) (State) (Zip) 

Phone No.: 716- E-Mail Address: ------------- --------------
lko ""'-1:1..S OWNER'S CONSENT (IF APPLICABLE) 

Bm 111a Cassano ----------------- ("Owner") certifies that it is the owner of the property 
located at 1516 S Palmway, Lake Worth , FL 

("Subject Property") and expressly consents to the use of the Subject Property as described in this 
application and to all conditions that may be agreed to as a part of the approval of this application, 
which may be imposed by the decision making board. 

Owner hereby authorizes Henry Kusinski as agent, to fi le this application 

and all tings and hearings required for the approval of this application. 

' 
Owner's Signatu re:~-~~-~--..--r---r::=~~-----=----:--...--------- Date: 0 '3 - 1 b 
Name/Title of Signatory: ---''--'L..:..s..t...1..J.J~......._ ........ ~__,,,£_;£~"----0---------------

STATEOF f(o ...- ~ tc... ) 
COUNTY OF P .... \ IM. B e.o.~) ~,..A ./\/\1'J,. 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ~ day of ._,_" IJI._'f-.... ----~· 20~ by 
-Jno l'V\ ~ C8-$SAW who is personally known to me or who produced a 

DB• J e.a- • 7 L.-1 f E--,(.),S.£, as identification. He/she did not take an oath . 

(NOTARY SEAL) 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 3of7 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 

Provide a detailed description of work to be done as a result of this application (attach additional sheets if necessary). 

The previous acrylic popcorn texture on the exterior walls was removed 

and a "smooth textured" finish was applied after making repairs to 

the original stucco wall which had been badly cracked. The "smooth 

texture" was approved by the historical board with Building permit 

15-3353. We are seeking Board approval to keep the new "smooth 

Textured" stucco finish instead of changing it to a completely smooth 

finish as presently requested by the Preservation Planning Coordinator. (see addendum) 

PRIOR APPROVALS: 

Indicate any prior planning, zoning, historic or building approvals that you are aware of for the property (attach additional 

sheets if necessary). 

see COA #15-00100219 

REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS FOR ALL APPLICATIONS 

D CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION 

• Fill in all applicable fields and do not forget to include all required signatures. 

D APPLICATION CHECKLIST 

• Include all additional items as specified on each project specific application checklist if 
applicable. FENCES AND SIGNS do not have additional application checklists. Additional 
information may be required by Staff depending on the scope of each project. 

D JUSTIFICATION STATEMENT 

• Must address all compatibility criteria set forth in Section 23.5-4 Historic Preservation as 
applicable. See page 7 ofthis application for details. See the back of each applicable 
"Application Checklist" for details on additional specific criteria. 

D PHOTOGRAPHS 

• A minimum of one photograph of all elevations effected by the proposed project, including 
detail shots of significant architectural features. 

• Digital, 35 mm, or disposable cameras. No Polaroids or Google Earth images. 

D FEES 

• Application will not be processed or scheduled for a Board meeting until fee is paid in full. 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 4 of 7 

AFFIDAVIT OF COMPLETENESS AND ACCURACY 

INSTRUCTIONS: To be completed by the individual submitting the application (owner or authorized agent). 

Project Location: _1_51_6_S_P_a_lm_w_ay _ ________________ Submitta l Date: May 3, 2016 

STATEMENT OF COMPLETENESS AND ACCURACY: 

I hereby certify all property owners have full knowledge the property they own is the subject of this application. I 

hereby certify that al l owners and petitioners have been provided a complete copy of all material, attachments 
and documents submitted to the City of Lake Worth rel ating to this application. I further certify the statements or 
information made in any paper or plans submitted herewith are true and correct to the best of my knowledge. I 

understand this application, related appl ication material and al l attachments become official records of the 
Planning, Zon ing and Historic Preservation Division of Lake Worth, Florida, and wil l not be returned. I understand 
that any knowingly false, inaccurate or incomplete information provided by me will resu lt in the denial, revocation 
or admin ist rative withdrawal of this appl ication, request, approval or permit. I further acknowledge t hat additional 
information may be required by Pa lm Beach County to process this application. I further acknowledge that any 
plans that I have prepared or had prepared comply with the Fai r Housi ng Standards. I further consent to the City of 
Lake Worth to publish, copy or reproduce any copyrighted documents submitted as a part of this application for 
any th ird party. I further agree to all terms and conditions, which may be imposed as part of t he approval of this 
application. 

Check (v") one: I am the D property owner ii authorized agent. 

(Name - type, st;~ or print clearly) 

(Name of Firm) 

STATE OF Ao ..-t J.o- ) 
COUNTY OF f o-\""'" f>~ 

1J 
(Signature) 

(Address, City, State, Zip) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ~ day of N ()... '7 , 
2o]J;, by ff e~ r '1 K LL.$" , N s t5.. 1 who is personally known to me or who produced a 
______ ____ / ___ as identification. He/she did not take an oath. 

':l,.\\\\\llltll/111111. 
~,,11. JAN J. /1~ 

.;::. •'''''• UQ ~ ~ :Jf. ,··~ COMMts'··~~ 
(NO~RY_$E'~~~emf)9_.s0;: •• ~\ 

:~: ct~~<---~ 
:-t• ' rV .,,. = 
=~ :,.,: lf,c-,c- ·- ~ s: = :; ~ • ~ I;>; ~ Cb tr7 • : 
~ -9- ·.;.""'<g-:h ~.9& "> : ~ 
~'<Si .~;_"'t>',. l9 • ;::; 
~ ~ •';'<'t.i.. '~ln.J .·JI. ~ 
~ ... q n 'o:"'l11\1flte!S , • •' ,~ 
,~ "/4 ••••••• ~~ ~ .... 

'/111. rr: OF FLO?-~ ':\,,..._ 

'''''""""''''" 



Certificate of Appropriateness Application Page 5of7 

SIGN POSTING AGREEMENT 

(REQUIRED FOR ALL APPLICATION TO BE REVIEWED BY HISTORIC RESOURCES PRESERVATION BOARD) 

Applicant: Palm Beach Finance & Construction Group Inc. 

Property owner: Donna and Thomas Cassano 

Contact Phone No.: 561-385-7 444 
----------------------------~ 

Property Locat ion: 1516 S Palmway, Lake Worth, Fl 33460 

1 Henry Kusinski 
'--------------------------~ 

hereby affirm that I 

will post the notification sign(s) provided to me for a minimum of ten {10) calendar days before the 

scheduled date of the hearing of Planning and Zon ing Case No.------------

Signature: ----1-+g,""d• ,,__, __ 7...,..,__,=J~A._., ...... ~ __ o_.o;i.£_. ---------Date: May 3, 2016 

Name/Title of Signatory: --~H~e~" .......... "'""''>._---'K......,_..v...2= .... ''-"-"""-1""'$'--K .......... .._1 --------------
( 

STATE OF ffo.,-i'J.o__ ) 
COUNTY OF Pcio..\w.. 8etL°'-

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 3 day of __._M........_..""'--'y--------· 
20L4' by He"'.,../ Kt.o..£rNO~. r who is personally known ._.to me or who 

produced a as identification. He/she did not take an oath. 



ADDENDUM TO COA RE 1516 S PALMWAY 

This  is  an application  to obtain approval of  an Exterior Alteration using an alternate design. Due  to a 

misunderstanding of terminology between “smooth texture” stucco and “completely smooth” stucco, a 

stucco smooth texture finish has been placed on the building (see attached pictures). To redo the finish 

to “completely smooth” would cause the home owner to incur significant additional costs and deny the 

home owner of enjoyment of their property, all of which could be avoided if the Historical Board were to 

approve this application. A redo would also  include additional costs  in redoing the corner and bottom 

features of the wall. 

The  Preservation  Planning  Coordinator  is  of  the  opinion  that  the  building  currently  represents  a 

“Mediterranean”  style  instead  of  a  “Colonial  Revival”  style.  We  have  a  different  opinion  of  this.  In 

researching the term “Colonial Revival” one will find that it incorporates various different architectural 

features and is used to include everything from colonial buildings in the Virginias to colonial buildings in 

Florida  and  California.  None  of  them  have  their  own  absolute  or  definitive  or  exclusive  architectural 

elements. Also for “Colonial Revival” to apply it does not necessarily mandate completely smooth stucco. 

With this subject property the owners have agreed to retain the colonial features of the windows and 

shutters even though the windows (originals) have been severely damaged over time – all at great expense 

to themselves. Similarly they have agreed to redo the existing columns at the front of the house into a 

colonial style as approved in permit 15‐3353. 

It  is thus our opinion and that of our architects that the smooth texture (known by  local artisans as a 

“Florida Water Texture Design”) that has been applied to the building does not detract from any “Colonial 

Revival” styling for the building, but enhances it. The design does not stand out from the building surface 

not more than a couple of millimeters or less. 

The large property to the north of the subject property, is of similar styling and has even a coarser finish 

to its stucco (see pictures). The remaining adjacent properties are all of different design with some being 

multi‐family residential. Thus there is no negative impact on the immediate community with the design 

presently on the building. Also no objections have been received from any neighbors – only compliments. 

With respect to Section 23.5‐4: 

A. The  proposed  work  enhances  the  appearance  of  the  property.  Previously  the  property  was 

covered with a heavy acrylic “popcorn” texture which had been applied in the 1960’s. This was all 

removed. 

B. Other  properties  in  the  district  are  of  various  designs  from  different  periods.  There  is  little 

consistency between the properties. 

C. The proposed design does not detract from the archaeological significance of the property. In all 

other respects the owner has tried to enhance and/or restore the building to its original greatness 

both inside and out. 

D. Denial  of  a  certificate  of  appropriateness  would  deprive  the  property  owner  of  reasonable 

beneficial use of his property by delaying completion of his project and by the potential burden 

of significant costs. 

E. Work has been done. Once approval has been obtained the property can be painted and the site 

cleaned up. 

F. No negative actions are believed to have been performed. Other restoration work has been either 

completed or is planned in accordance with approved plans and the guidelines of this section. 

G. The requested changes have minimal effect on the elements or features of the structure. 



Front Elevation of House



South Elevation of House



North Elevation of House



East Elevation of House



Neighbor on North Side



North Neighbor Stucco Texture



South Neighbor



East Neighbors



NE Neighbors



Typical West Neighbors











PRESERVATION 
~BRIEFS 

The Preservation and Repair of 
Historic Stucco 

Anne Grimmer 

u.s. Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
Preservation Assistance Division 

The term "stuccd' is used here to describe a type of 
exterior plaster applied as a two-or-three part coating 
directly onto masonry, or applied over wood or metal 
lath to a log or wood frame structure. Stucco is found 
in many forms on historic structures throughout the 
United States. It is so common, in fact, that it fre
quently goes unnoticed, and is often disguised or used 
to imitate another material. Historic stucco is also 
sometimes incorrectly viewed as a sacrificial coating, 
and consequently removed to reveal stone, brick or 
logs that historically were never intended to be ex
posed. Age and lack of maintenance hasten the deterio
ration of many historic stucco buildings. Like most 
historic building materials, stucco is at the mercy of the 
elements, and even though it is a protective coating, it 
is particularly susceptible to water damage. 

Stucco is a material of deceptive simplicity: in most 
cases its repair should not be undertaken by a property 

owner unfamiliar with the art of plastering. Successful 
stucco repair requires the skill and experience of a pro
fessional plasterer. Therefore, this Brief has been pre
pared to provide background information on the nature 
and components of traditional stucco, as well as offer 
guidance on proper maintenance and repairs. The Brief 
will outline the requirements for stucco repair, and, 
when necessary, replacement. Although several stucco 
mixes representative of different periods are provided 
here for reference, this Brief does not include specifica
tions for carrying out repair projects. Each project is 
unique, with its own set of problems that require indi
vidual solutions. 

Historical Background 

Stucco has been used since ancient times. Still widely 
used throughout the world, it is one of the most com
mon of traditional building materials (Fig. 1). Up until 

Fig. 1. These two houses in a residential section of Winchester, Virginia, illustrate the continuing popularity of stucco (a) from this 
early 19th century, Federal style house on the left, (b) to the English Cotswold style cottage that was built across the street in the 
1930's. Photos: Anne Grimmer. 



the late 1800's, stucco, like mortar, was primarily Iime
based, but the popularization of portland cement 
changed the composition of stucco, as well as mortar, 
to a harder material. Historically, the term "plaster" has 
often been interchangeable with "stucco"; the term is 
still favored by many, particularly when referring to the 
traditional lime-based coating. By the nineteenth cen
tury "stucco," although originally denoting fine interior 
ornamental plasterwork, had gained wide acceptance 
in the United States to describe exterior plastering. 
"Render" and "rendering" are also terms used to de
scribe stucco, especially in Great Britain. Other historic 
treatments and coatings related to stucco in that they 
consist at least in part of a similarly plastic or malleable 
material include: parging and pargeting, wattle and 
daub, "cob" or chalk mud, pise de terre, rammed 
earth, briquete entre poteaux or bousillage, half
timbering, and adobe. All of these are regional varia
tions on traditional mixtures of mud, clay, lime, chalk, 
cement, gravel or straw. Many are still used today. 

The Stucco Tradition in the United States 

Stucco is primarily used on residential buildings and 
relatively small-scale commercial structures. Some of 
the earliest stucco buildings in the United States in
clude examples of the Federal, Greek and Gothic Re
vival styles of the eighteenth and the nineteenth 
centuries that emulated European architectural fash
ions. Benjamin Henry Latrobe, appointed by Thomas 
Jefferson as Surveyor of Public Buildings of the United 
States in 1803, was responsible for the design of a num
ber of important stucco buildings, including St. John's 
Church (1816), in Washington, D.C. (Fig. 2). Nearly 
half a century later Andrew Jackson Downing also ad
vocated the use of stucco in his influential book The 
Architecture of Country Houses, published in 1850. In 
Downing's opinion, stucco was superior in many re
spects to plain brick or stone because it was cheaper, 
warmer and dryer, and could be "agreeably" tinted. As 
a result of his advice, stuccoed Italianate style urban 
and suburban villas proliferated in many parts of the 
country during the third quarter of the nineteenth 
century. 

Revival Styles Promote Use of Stucco 

The introduction of the many revival styles of architec
ture around the turn of the twentieth century, com
bined with the improvement and increased availability 
of portland cement resulted in a "craze" for stucco as a 
building material in the United States. Beginning about 
1890 and gaining momentum into the 1930's and 1940's, 
stucco was associated with certain historic architectural 
styles, including: Prairie; Art Deco, and Art Moderne; 
Spanish Colonial, Mission, Pueblo, Mediterranean, 
English Cotswold Cottage, and Tudor Revival styles; as 
well as the ubiquitous bungalow and "four-square" 
house (Fig. 3). The fad for Spanish Colonial Revival, 
and other variations on this theme, was especially im
portant in furthering stucco as a building material in 
the United States during this period, since stucco 
clearly looked like adobe (Fig. 4). 

2 

Fig. 2. St. John's Church, Washington, D. c., constructed of 
brick and stuccoed immediately upon completion in 1816, 
reflects the influence of European, and specifically English, 
architectural styles. Photo: Russell Jones, HABS Collection. 

Fig. 3. The William Gray and Edna S. Purcell House, 
Minneapolis, Minnesota, was designed in 1913 by the 
architects Purcell and Elmslie in the Prairie style. Stuccoed 
in a salmon-pink, sand (float) finish, it is unusual in that it 
featured a 3-color geometric frieze stencilled below the eaves of 
the 2nd story. The Minneapolis Institute of Art has removed 
the cream-colored paint added at a later date, and restored the 
original color and texture of the stucco. Photo: Courtesy 
MacDonald and Mack Partnership. 



Although stucco buildings were especially prevalent in 
California, the Southwest and Florida, ostensibly be
cause of their Spanish heritage, this period also 
spawned stucco-coated, revival-style buildings all over 
the United States and Canada. The popularity of stucco 
as a cheap, and readily available material meant that by 
the 1920's, it was used for an increasing variety of 
building types . Resort hotels, apartment buildings, 
private mansions and movie theaters, railroad stations, 
and even gas stations and tourist courts took advantage 

Fig. 4. The elaborate Spanish Colonial Revival style of this 
building designed by Bertram Goodhue for the 1915 Panama 
California Exposition held in San Diego's Balboa Park 
emphasizes the sculptural possibilities of stucco. Photo: C. W 
Snell, National Historic Landmark Files . 

of the "romance" of period styles, and adopted the 
stucco construction that had become synonymous with 
these styles (Fig. 5). 

A Practical Building Material 

Stucco has traditionally been popular for a variety of 
reasons. It was an inexpensive material that could sim
ulate finely dressed stonework, especially when 
"scored" or "lined" in the European tradition. A stucco 
coating over a less finished and less costly substrate 
such as rubblestone, fieldstone, brick, log or wood 
frame, gave the building the appearance of being a 
more expensive and important structure. As a weather
repellent coating, stucco protected the building from 
wind and rain penetration, and also offered a certain 
amount of fire protection. While stucco was usually 
applied during construction as part of the building 
design, particularly over rubblestone or fieldstone, in 
some instances it was added later to protect the struc
ture, or when a rise in the owner's social status de
manded a comparable rise in his standard of living. 

Composition of Historic Stucco 

Before the mid-to-Iate nineteenth century, stucco con
sisted primarily of hydrated or slaked lime, water and 
sand, with straw or animal hair included as a binder. 
Natural cements were frequently used in stucco mixes 
after their discovery in the United States during the 
1820's. Portland cement was first manufactured in the 
United States in 1871, and it gradually replaced natural 
cement. After about 1900, most stucco was composed 
primarily of portland cement, mixed with some lime. 
With the addition of portland cement, stucco became 
even more versatile and durable. No longer used just 
as a coating for a substantial material like masonry or 
log, stucco could now be applied over wood or metal 
lath attached to a light wood frame. With this increased 
strength, stucco ceased to be just a veneer and became 
a more integral part of the building structure. 

Fig. 5. During the 19th and 20th centuries stucco has been a popular material not only for residential, but also for commercial 
buildings in the Spanish style. Two such examples are (a) the 1851 Ernest Hemingway House, Key West, Florida, built of stuccoed 
limestone in a Spanish Caribbean style; and (b) the Santa Fe Depot (Union Station), San Diego, California, designed by the 
architects Bakewell and Brown in 1914 in a Spanish Colonial Revival style, and constructed of stucco over brick and hollow tile. 
Photos: (a) J.F. Brooks, HABS Collection, (b) Marvin Rand, HABS Collection. 

3 



Today, gypsum, which is hydrated calcium sulfate or 
sulfate of lime, has to a great extent replaced lime. 
Gypsum is preferred because it hardens faster and has 
less shrinkage than lime. Lime is generally used only 
in the finish coat in contemporary stucco work. 

The composition of stucco depended on local custom 
and available materials. Stucco often contained sub
stantial amounts of mud or clay, marble or brick dust, 
or even sawdust, and an array of additives ranging 
from animal blood or urine, to eggs, keratin or gluesize 
(animal hooves and horns), varnish, wheat paste, 
sugar, salt, sodium silicate, alum, tallow, linseed oil, 
beeswax, and wine, beer, or rye whiskey. Waxes, fats 
and oils were included to introduce water-repellent 
properties, sugary materials reduced the amount of 
water needed and slowed down the setting time, and 
alcohol acted as an air entrainer. All of these additives 
contributed to the strength and durability of the stucco. 

The appearance of much stucco was determined by the 
color of the sand-or sometimes burnt clay, used in the 
mix, but often stucco was also tinted with natural pig
ments, or the surface whitewashed or colorwashed 
after stuccoing was completed. Brick dust could pro
vide color, and other coloring materials that were not 
affected by lime, mostly mineral pigments, could be 
added to the mix for the final finish coat. Stucco was 

also marbled or marbleized-stained to look like stone 
by diluting oil of vitriol (sulfuric acid) with water, and 
mixing this with a yellow ochre, or another color (Fig. 
6). As the twentieth century progressed, manufactured 
or synthetic pigments were added at the factory to 
some prepared stucco mixes. 

Methods of Application 

Stucco is applied directly, without lath, to masonry 
substrates such as brick, stone, concrete or hollow tile 
(Fig. 7). But on wood structures, stucco, like its interior 
counterpart plaster, must be applied over lath in order 
to obtain an adequate key to hold the stucco. Thus, 
when applied over a log structure, stucco is laid on 
horizontal wood lath that has been nailed on vertical 
wood furring strips attached to the logs (Fig. 8). If it is 
applied over a wood frame structure, stucco may be 
applied to wood or metal lath nailed directly to the 
wood frame; it may also be placed on lath that has 
been attached to furring strips. The furring strips are 
themselves laid over building paper covering the wood 
sheathing (Fig. 9). Wood lath was gradually super
seded by expanded metal lath introduced in the 
late-nineteenth and early-twentieth century. When 
stuccoing over a stone or brick substrate, it was cus
tomary to cut back or rake out the mortar joints if they 
were not already recessed by natural weathering or 

Fig. 6. Arlington House, Arlington, Virginia, was built between 1802-1818 of brick covered with stucco. It was designed by George 
Hadfield for George Washington Parke Custis, grandson of Martha Washington, and was later the home of Robert E. Lee. This 
photograph taken on June 28, 1864, by Captain Andrew f. Russell, a U. S. Signal Corps photographer, shows the stucco after it had 
been marbleized during the 1850's. Yellow ochre and burnt umber pigments were combined to imitate Sienna marble, and the stucco, 
with the exception of the roughcast foundation, was scored to heighten the illusion of stone. Photo: National Archives, Arlington 
House Collection, National Park Service. 
4 



Fig. 7. Patches of stucco have fallen off this derelict 19th 
century structure exposing the rough-cut local stone 
substrate. The missing wood entablature on the side and the 
rough wood lintel now exposed above a second-floor window, 
offer clues that the building was stuccoed originally. Photo: 
National Park Service Files. 

Fig. 8. Removal of deteriorated stucco in preparation for 
stucco repair on this late-18th century log house in 
Middleway, West Virginia , reveals that the stucco was 
applied to hand-riven wood lath nailed over vertical wood 
strips attached to the logs. Photo: Anne Grimmer. 

Fig. 9. This cutaway drawing shows the method of 
attachment for stucco commonly used on wood frame or 
balloon frame structures from the late-19th to the 20th 
century. Drawing: Brian Conway, "Illinois Preservation 
Series Number 2: Stucco. " 

erosion, and sometimes the bricks themselves were 
gouged to provide a key for the stucco. This helped 
provide the necessary bond for the stucco to remain 
attached to the masonry, much like the key provided 
by wood or metal lath on frame buildings. 

Like interior wall plaster, stucco has traditionally been 
applied as a multiple-layer process, sometimes con
sisting of two coats, but more commonly as three. 
Whether applied directly to a masonry substrate or 
onto wood or metal lath, this consists of a first 
"scratch" or "pricking-up" coat, followed by a second 
scratch coat, sometimes referred to as a "floating" or 
"brown" coat, followed finally by the "finishing" coat. 
Up until the late-nineteenth century, the first and the 
second coats were of much the same composition, gen
erally consisting of lime, or natural cement, sand, per
haps clay, and one or more of the additives previously 
mentioned . Straw or animal hair was usually added to 
the first coat as a binder. The third, or finishing coat, 
consisted primarily of a very fine mesh grade of lime 
and sand, and sometimes pigment. As already noted, 
after the 1820's, natural cement was also a common 
ingredient in stucco until it was replaced by portland 
cement . 

5 



A B 

---I ~ 

-

c o 

Fig. 10. (a) Tudor Place, Washington, D.C. (1805-1816), was designed by Dr. William Thornton. Like its contemporary, Arlington 
House, it is stuccoed and scored, with a roughcast base, but here the stucco is a monochromatic sandstone color tinted by sand and 
mineral pigments (b). Although the original stucco was replaced in the early-20th century with a portland cement-based stucco, the 
family, who retained ownership until 1984 when the house was opened to the public, left explicit instructions for future stucco 
repairs. The mix recommended for repairing hairline cracks (c), consists of sharp sand, cement and lime, burnt umber, burnt sienna, 
and a small amount of raw sienna. Preparation of numerous test samples, the size of "a thick griddle cake," will be necessary to 
match the stucco color, and when the exact color has been achieved, the mixture is to be diluted to the "consistency of cream," 
brushed on the wall and rubbed into the cracks with a rubber sponge or float . Note the dark color visible under the eaves intended to 
replicate the stronger color of the originallimewashed stucco (d). Photos: Anne Grimmer. 

6 



Both masonry and wood lath must be kept wet or 
damp to ensure a good bond with the stucco. Wetting 
these materials helps to prevent them from pulling 
moisture out of the stucco too rapidly, which results in 
cracking, loss of bond, and generally poor quality 
stuccowork. 

Traditional Stucco Finishes 

Until the early-twentieth century when a variety of 
novelty finishes or textures were introduced, the last 
coat of stucco was commonly given a smooth, troweled 
finish, and then scored or lined in imitation of ashlar. 
The illusion of masonry joints was sometimes en
hanced by a thin line of white lime putty, graphite, or 
some other pigment. Some nineteenth century build
ings feature a water table or raised foundation of 
rough-cast stucco that differentiates it from the stucco 
surface above, which is smooth and scored (Fig. 10). 
Other novelty or textured finishes associated with the 
"period" or revival styles of the early-twentieth century 
include: the English cottage finish, adobe and Spanish, 
pebble-dashed or dry-dash surface, fan and sponge 
texture, reticulated and vermiculated, roughcast (or wet 
dash), and sgraffito (Fig. 11). 

Repairing Deteriorated Stucco 

Regular Maintenance 

Although A. J. Downing alluded to stuccoed houses in 
Pennsylvania that had survived for over a century in 
relatively good condition, historic stucco is inherently 
not a particularly permanent or long-lasting building 
material. Regular maintenance is required to keep it in 
good condition. Unfortunately, many older or historic 
buildings are not always accorded this kind of care. 

Because building owners knew stucco to be a protect
ive, but also somewhat fragile coating, they employed a 
variety of means to prolong its usefulness. The most 
common treatment was to whitewash stucco, often 
annually. The lime in the whitewash offered protection 
and stability and helped to harden the stucco. Most 
importantly, it filled hairline cracks before they could 
develop into larger cracks and let in moisture. To im
prove water repellency, stucco buildings were also 
sometimes coated with paraffin, another type of wax, 
or other stucco-like coatings, such as oil mastics. 

Assessing Damage 

Most stucco deterioration is the result of water infiltra
tion into the building structure, either through the 
roof, around chimneys, window and door openings, or 
excessive ground water or moisture penetrating 
through, or splashing up from the foundation. Poten
tial causes of deterioration include: ground settlement, 
lintel and door frame settlement, inadequate or leaking 
gutters and downspouts, intrusive vegetation, moisture 
migration within walls due to interior condensation 
and humidity, vapor drive problems caused by furnace, 
bathroom and kitchen vents, and rising damp resulting 
from excessive ground water and poor drainage around 
the foundation. Water infiltration will cause wood lath 
to rot, and metal lath and nails to rust, which eventu-

Fig. 11. The Hotel Washington, Washington, D. C. 
(1916-1917), is notable for its decorative sgraffito surfaces. 
Stucco panels under the comice and around the windows 
feature classical designs created by artists who incised the 
patterns in the outer layer of red-colored stucco while still 
soft, thereby exposing a stucco undercoat of a contrasting 
color. Photo: Kaye Ellen Sill1onson. 

ally will cause stucco to lose its bond and pull away 
from its substrate. 

After the cause of deterioration has been identified, 
any necessary repairs to the building should be made 
first before repairing the stucco. Such work is likely to 
include repairs designed to keep excessive water away 
from the stucco, such as roof, gutter, downspout and 
flashing repairs, improving drainage, and redirecting 
rainwater runoff and splash-back away from the build
ing. Horizontal areas such as the tops of parapet walls 
or chimneys are particularly vulnerable to water infil
tration, and may require modifications to their original 
design, such as the addition of flashing to correct the 
problem. 

Previous repairs inexpertly carried out may have 
caused additional deterioration, particularly if executed 
in portland cement, which tends to be very rigid, and 
therefore incompatible with early, mostly soft lime
based stucco that is more "flexible ." [ncompatible 

7 



repairs, external vibration caused by traffic or con
struction, or building settlement can also result in 
cracks which permit the entrance of water and cause 
the stucco to fail (Fig. 12). 

Before beginning any stucco repair, an assessment of 
the stucco should be undertaken to determine the ex
tent of the damage, and how much must be replaced 
or repaired. Testing should be carried out systemati
cally on all elevations of the building to determine the 
overall condition of the stucco. Some areas in need of 
repair will be clearly evidenced by missing sections of 
stucco or stucco layers. Bulging or cracked areas are 
obvious places to begin. Unsound, punky or soft areas 
that have lost their key will echo with a hollow sound 
when tapped gently with a wooden or acrylic hammer 
or mallet. 

Identifying the Stucco Type 

Analysis of the historic stucco will provide useful infor
mation on its primary ingredients and their propor
tions, and will help to ensure that the new replacement 
stucco will duplicate the old in strength, composition, 
color and texture as closely as possible. However, un
less authentic, period restoration is required, it may not 
be worthwhile, nor in many instances possible, to at
tempt to duplicate all of the ingredients (particularly 
some of the additives), in creating the new stucco mor-

tar. Some items are no longer available, and others, 
notably sand and lime-the major components of tradi
tional stucco-have changed radically over time. For 
example, most sand used in contemporary masonry 
work is manufactured sand, because river sand, which 
was used historically, is difficult to obtain today in 
many parts of the country. The physical and visual 
qualities of manufactured sand versus river sand, are 
quite different, and this affects the way stucco works, 
as well as the way it looks. The same is true of lime, 
which is frequently replaced by gypsum in modern 
stucco mixes. And even if identification of all the items 
in the historic stucco mix were possible, the analysis 
would still not reveal how the original stucco was 
mixed and applied. 

There are, however, simple tests that can be carried out 
on a small piece of stucco to determine its basic make
up. A dilute solution of hydrochloric (muriatic) acid 
will dissolve lime-based stucco, but not portland ce
ment. Although the use of portland cement became 
common after 1900, there are no precise cut-off dates, 
'as stuccoing practices varied among individual plaster
ers, and from region to region. Some plasterers began 
using portland cement in the 1880's, but others may 
have continued to favor lime stucco well into the early
twentieth century. While it is safe to assume that a 
late-eighteenth or early-nineteenth century stucco is 
lime-based, late-nineteenth or early-twentieth century 

Fig. 12. (a) Water intrusion caused by rusting metal, or (b) plant growth left unattended will gradually enlarge these cracks, 
resulting in spalling, and eventually requiring extensive repair of the stucco. Photos: National Park Service Files. 

8 



-

Fig. 13. (a) In preparation for repainting, hairline cracks on this Mediterranean style stucco apartment building were filled with a 
commercial caulking compound; (b) dirt is attracted and adheres to the texture of the caulked areas, and a year after painting, these 
inappropriate repairs are highly obvious. Photos: Anne Grimmer. 

stucco may be based on either lime or portland cement. 
Another important factor to take into consideration is 
that an early lime-stucco building is likely to have been 
repaired many times over the ensuing years, and it is 
probable that at least some of these patches consist of 
portland cement. 

Planning the Repair 

Once the extent of damage has been determined, a 
number of repair options may be considered. Small 
hairline cracks usually are not serious and may be 
sealed with a thin slurry coat consisting of the finish 
coat ingredients, or even with a coat of paint or white
wash. Commercially available caulking compounds are 
not suitable materials for patching hairline cracks. Be
cause their consistency and texture is unlike that of 
stucco, they tend to weather differently, and attract 
more dirt; as a result, repairs made with caulking com
pounds may be highly visible, and unsightly (Fig. 13). 
Larger cracks will have to be cut out in preparation for 
more extensive repair. Most stucco repairs will require 
the skill and expertise of a professional plasterer (Fig. 
14). 

In the interest of saving or preserving as much as pos
sible of the historic stucco, patching rather than whole
sale replacement is preferable. When repairing heavily 
textured surfaces, it is not usually necessary to replace 
an entire wall section, as the textured finish, if well
executed, tends to conceal patches, and helps them to 
blend in with the existing stucco. However, because of 
the nature of smooth-finished stucco, patching a num
ber of small areas scattered over one elevation may not 
be a successful repair approach unless the stucco has 
been previously painted, or is to be painted following 
the repair work. On unpainted stucco such patches are 
hard to conceal, because they may not match exactly or 
blend in with the rest of the historic stucco surface. For 

Fig. 14. This poorly executed patch is not the work of a 
professional plasterer. While it may serve to keep out water, it 
does not match the original surface, and is not an appropriate 
repair for historic stucco. Photo: Betsy Chittenden. 

this reason it is recommended, if possible, that stucco 
repair be carried out in a contained or well-defined 
area, or if the stucco is scored, the repair patch should 
be "squared-off" in such a way as to follow existing 
scoring. In some cases, especially in a highly visible 
location, it may be preferable to restucco an entire wall 
section or feature. In this way, any differences between 
the patched area and the historic surface will not be so 
readily apparent. 

Repair of historic stucco generally follows most of the 
same principles used in plaster repair. First, all deterio
rated, severely cracked and loose stucco should be re
moved down to the lath (assuming that the lath is 
securely attached to the substrate), or down to the ma
sonry if the stucco is directly applied to a masonry 
substrate. A clean surface is necessary to obtain a good 

9 



bond bet\'veen the stucco and substrate. The areas to be 
patched should be cleaned of all debris with a bristle 
brush, and all plant growth, dirt, loose paint, oil or 
grease should be removed (Fig. 15). If necessary, brick 
or stone mortar joints should then be raked out to a 
depth of approximately 5/8" to ensure a good bond 
between the substrate and the new stucco. 

To obtain a neat repair, the area to be patched should 
be squared-off with a butt joint, using a cold chisel, a 
hatchet, a diamond blade saw, or a masonry bit. Some
times it may be preferable to leave the area to be 
patched in an irregular shape which may result in a 
less conspicuous patch. Proper preparation of the area 
to be patched requires very sharp tools, and extreme 
caution on the part of the plasterer not to break keys of 
surrounding good stucco by "over-sounding" when 
removing deteriorated stucco. To ensure a firm bond, 
the ne~ patch must not overlap the old stucco. If the 
stucco has lost its bond or key from wood lath, or the 
lath has deteriorated or come loose from the substrate, 
a decision must be made whether to try to reattach the 
old lath, to replace deteriorated lath with new wood 
lath , or to leave the historic wood lath in place and 
supplement it with modern expanded metal lath. Un
less authenticity is important, it is generally preferable 
(and easier) to nail new metal lath over the old wood 
lath to support the patch. Metal lath that is no longer 

securely fastened to the substrate may be removed and 
replaced in kind, or left in place, and supplemented 
with new wire lath . 

When repairing lime-based stucco applied directly to 
masonry, the new stucco should be applied in the same 
manner, directly onto the stone or brick. The stucco 
will bond onto the masonry itself without the addition 
of lath because of the irregularities in the masonry or 
those of its mortar joints, or because its surface has 
been scratched, scored or otherwise roughened to pro
vide an additional key. Cutting out the old stucco at a 
diagonal angle may also help secure the bond between 
the new and the old stucco. For the most part it is not 
advisable to insert metal lath when restuccoing historic 
masonry in sound condition, as it can hasten deteriora
tion of the repair work. Not only will attaching the lath 
damage the masonry, but the slightest moisture pene
tration can cause metal lath to rust. This will cause 
metal to expand, eventually resulting in spalling of the 
stucco, and possibly the masonry substrate too. 

If the area to be patched is properly cleaned and pre
pared, a bonding agent is usually not necessary. How
ever, a bonding agent may be useful when repairing 
hairline cracks, or when dealing with substrates that do 
not offer a good bonding surface. These may include 
dense stone or brick, previously painted or stuccoed 

Fig. 15. (a) After reattaching any loose wood lath to the furring. strips underneath, the a:ea to be patched has been cleaned, the lath 
thoroughly wetted, and (b) the first coat of stucco has been applzed and scratched to provide a key to hold the second layer of stucco. 
Photos: Betsy Chittenden. 

10 



masonry, or spalling brick substrates. A good mechani
cal bond is always preferable to reliance on bonding 
agents. Bonding agents should not be used on a wall 
that is likely to remain damp or where large amounts 
of salts are present. Many bonding agents do not sur
vive well under such conditions, and their use could 
jeopardize the longevity of the stucco repair. 

A stucco mix compatible with the historic stucco 
should be selected after analyzing the existing stucco. It 
can be adapted from a standard traditional mix of the 
period, or based on one of the mixes included here. 
Stucco consisting mostly of portland cement generally 
will not be physically compatible with the softer, more 
flexible lime-rich historic stuccos used throughout the 
eighteenth and much of the nineteenth centuries. The 
differing expansion and contraction rates of lime stucco 
and portland cement stucco will normally cause the 
stucco to crack. Choosing a stucco mix that is durable 
and compatible with the historic stucco on the building 
is likely to involve considerable trial and error, and 
probably will require a number of test samples, and 
even more if it is necessary to match the color. It is 
best to let the stucco test samples weather as long as 
possible-ideally one year, or at least through a change 
of seasons, in order to study the durability of the mix 
and its compatibility with the existing stucco, as well as 
the weathering of the tint if the building will not be 
painted and'color match is an important factor. If the 
test samples are not executed on the building, they 
should be placed next to the stucco remaining on the 
building to compare the color, texture and composition 
of the samples with the original. The number and 
thickness of stucco coats used in the repair should also 
match the original. 

After thoroughly dampening the masonry or wood 
lath, the first, scratch coat should be applied to the 
masonry substrate, or wood or metal lath, in a thick
ness that corresponds to the original if extant, or gener
ally about 1/4" to 3/8" . The scratch coat should be 
scratched or cross-hatched with a comb to provide a 
key to hold the second coat. It usually takes 24-72 
hours, and longer in cold weather, for each coat to dry 
before the next coat can be applied. The second coat 
should be about the same thickness as the first, and 
the total thickness of the first two coats should gener
ally not exceed about 5/8". This second or leveling coat 
should be roughened using a wood float with a nail 
protruding to provide a key for the final or finish coat. 
The finish coat, about 1/4" thick, is applied after the 
previous coat has initially set. If this is not feasible, the 
base coat should be thoroughly dampened when the 
finish coat is applied later. The finish coat should be 
worked to match the texture of the original stucco (Fig. 
16). 

Colors and Tints for Historic Stucco Repair 

The color of most early stucco was supplied by the 
aggregate included in the mix-usually the sand. 
Sometimes natural pigments were added to the mix, 
and eighteenth and nineteenth-century scored stucco 
was often marbleized or painted in imitation of marble 
or granite. Stucco was also frequently coated with 
whitewash or a colorwash. This tradition later evolved 

into the use of paint, its popularity depending on the 
vagaries of fashion as much as a means of concealing 
repairs. Because most of the early colors were derived 
from nature, the resultant stucco tints tended to be 
mostly earth-toned. This was true until the advent of 
brightly colored stucco in the early decades of the 
twentieth century. This was the so-called "Jazz Plaster" 
developed by O.A. Malone, the "man who put color 
into California," and who founded the California 
Stucco Products Corporation in 1927. California Stucco 
was revolutionary for its time as the first stucco/plaster 
to contain colored pigment in its pre-packaged factory 
mix. 

When patching or repairing a historic stucco surface 
known to have been tinted, it may be possible to deter
mine through visual or microscopic analysis whether 
the source of the coloring is sand, cement or pigment. 
Although some pigments or aggregates used tradition
ally may no longer be available, a sufficiently close 
color-match can generally be approximated using sand, 
natural or mineral pigments, or a combination of these . 
Obtaining such a match will require testing and com
paring the color of dried test samples with the original. 
Successfully combining pigments in the dry stucco mix 
prepared for the finish coat requires considerable skill. 
The amount of pigment must be carefully measured for 
each batch of stucco. Overworking the mix can make 
the pigment separate from the lime. Changing the 
amount of water added to the mix, or using water to 
apply the tinted finish coat, will also affect the color of 
the stucco when it dries. 

Generally, the color obtained by hand-mixing these 
ingredients will provide a sufficiently close match to 
cover an entire wall or an area distinct enough from the 
rest of the structure that the color differences will not 
be obvious. However, it may not work for small 
patches conspicuously located on a primary elevation, 
where color differences will be especially noticeable. In 
these instances, it may be necessary to conceal the 
repairs by painting the entire patched elevation, or 
even the whole building. 

Many stucco buildings have been painted over the 
years and will require repainting after the stucco re
pairs have been made. Limewash or cement-based 
paint, latex paint, or oil-based paint are appropriate 
coatings for stucco buildings. The most important fac
tor to consider when repainting a previously painted or 
coated surface is that the new paint be compatible with 
any coating already on the surface. In preparation for 
repainting, all loose or peeling paint or other coating 
material not firmly adhered to the stucco must be re
moved by hand-scraping or natural bristle brushes. The 
surface should then be cleaned. 

Cement-based paints, most of which today contain 
some portland cement and are really a type of lime
wash, have traditionally been used on stucco buildings . 
The ingredients were easily obtainable. Furthermore, 
the lime in such paints actually bonded or joined with 
the stucco and provided a very durable coating. In 
many regions, whitewash was applied annually during 
spring cleaning. Modern, commercially available pre
mixed masonry and mineral-based paints may also be 
used on historic stucco buildings. 

11 



Fig. A Fig. B 

.. 

Fig. C Fig. 0 

Fig. 16. (a) In preparation for stucco repair, this plasterer is mixing the dry materials in a mortar box with a mortar hoe (note the 2 
holes in the blade), pulling it through the box using short choppy strokes. After the dry materials are thoroughly combined, water 
is added and mixed with them using the same choppy, but gradually lengthening stokes, making sure that the hoe cuts completely 
through the mix to the bottom of the box. (b) The deteriorated stucco has been cut away, and new metal lath has been nailed to the 
clapboarding in the area to be patched. (Although originally clapboarded when built in the 19th century, the house was stuccoed 
around the turn-of-the-century on metal lath nailed over the clapboard.) (c) The first, scratch coat and the second coat have been 
applied here, and await the spatterdash or rough-cast finish of the final coat (d) which was accomplished by the plasterer using a 
whisk broom to throw the stucco mortar against the wall surface. This well-executed patch is barely discernable, and lacks only a 
coat of paint to make it blend completely with the rest of the painted wall surface. Photos: Anne Grimmer. 
12 



If the structure must be painted for the first time to 
conceal repairs, almost any of these coatings may be 
acceptable depending on the situation. Latex paint, for 
example, may be applied to slightly damp walls or 
where there is an excess of moisture, but latex paint 
will not stick to chalky or powdery areas. Oil-based, or 
alkyd paints must be applied only to dry walls; new 
stucco must cure up to a year before it can be painted 
with oil-based paint. 

Contemporary Stucco Products 

There are many contemporary stucco products on the 
market today. Many of them are not compatible, either 
physically or visually, with historic stucco buildings. 
Such products should be considered for use only after 
consulting with a historic masonry specialist. However, 
some of these prepackaged tinted stucco coatings may 
be suitable for use on stucco buildings dating from the 
late-nineteenth or early-twentieth century, as long as 
the color and texture are appropriate for the period and 
style of the building. While some masonry contractors 
may, as a matter of course, suggest that a water
repellent coating be applied after repairing old stucco, 
in most cases this should not be necessary, since color
washes and paints serve the same purpose, and stucco 
itself is a protective coating. 

Cleaning Historic Stucco Surfaces 

Historic stucco buildings often exhibit multiple layers of 
paint or limewash. Although some stucco surfaces may 
be cleaned by water washing, the relative success of 
this procedure depends on two factors : the surface 
texture of the stucco, and the type of dirt to be re
moved. If simply removing airborne dirt, smooth un
painted stucco, and heavily-textured painted stucco 
may sometimes be cleaned using a low-pressure water 
wash, supplemented by scrubbing with soft natural 
bristle brushes, and possibly non-ionic detergents. 
Organic plant material, such as algae and mold, and 
metallic stains may be removed from stucco using poul
tices and appropriate solvents. Although these same 
methods may be employed to clean unpainted rough
cast, pebble-dash, or any stucco surface featuring ex
posed aggregate, due to the surface irregularities, it 
may be difficult to remove dirt, without also removing 
portions of the decorative textured surface. Difficulty in 
cleaning these surfaces may explain why so many of 
these textured surfaces have been painted. 

When Total Replacement is Necessary 

Complete replacement of the historic stucco with new 
stucco of either a traditional or modern mix will proba
bly be necessary only in cases of extreme deterioration
that is, a loss of bond on over 40-50 per cent of the 
stucco surface. Another reason for total removal might 
be that the physical and visual integrity of the historic 
stucco has been so compromised by prior incompatible 
and ill-conceived repairs that patching would not be 
successful. 

When stucco no longer exists on a building there is 
more flexibility in choosing a suitable mix for the re
placement. Since compatibility of old and new stucco 
will not be an issue, the most important factors to con-

sider are durability, color, texture and finish . Depend
ing on the construction and substrate of the building, 
in some instances it may be acceptable to use a rela
tively strong cement-based stucco mortar. This is cer
tainly true for many late-nineteenth and early-twentieth 
century buildings, and may even be appropriate to use 
on some stone substrates even if the original mortar 
would have been weaker, as long as the historic visual 
qualities noted above have been replicated. Generally, 
the best principle to follow for a masonry building is 
that the stucco mix, whether for repair or replacement 
of historic stucco, should be somewhat weaker than the 
masonry to which it is to be applied in order not to 
damage the substrate . 

General Guidance for Historic Stucco Repair 

A skilled professional plasterer will be familiar 
with the properties of materials involved in stucco 
repair and will be able to avoid some of the pit
falls that would hinder someone less experienced . 
General suggestions for successful stucco repair 
parallel those involving restoration and repair of 
historic mortar or plaster. In addition, the follow
ing principles are important to remember: 

• Mix only as much stucco as can be used in one 
and one-half to two hours. This will depend on 
the weather (mortar will harden faster under hot 
and dry, or sunny conditions); and experience is 
likely to be the best guidance. Any remaining 
mortar should be discarded; it should not be 
retempered. 

• Stucco mortar should not be over-mixed. (Hand 
mix for 10-15 minutes after adding water, or ma
chine mix for 3-4 minutes after all ingredients are 
in mixer.) Over-mixing can cause crazing and 
discoloration, especially in tinted mortars. Over
mixing will also tend to make the mortar set too 
fast, which will result in cracking and poor bond
ing or keying to the lath or masonry substrate . 

• Wood lath or a masonry substrate, but not metal 
lath, must be thoroughly wetted before applying 
stucco patches so that it does not draw moisture 
out of the stucco too rapidly. To a certain extent, 
bonding agents also serve this same purpose . 
Wetting the substrate helps retard drying. 

• To prevent cracking, it is imperative that stucco 
not dry too fast. Therefore, the area to be stuc
coed should be shaded, or even covered if possi
ble, particularly in hot weather. It is also a good 
idea in hot weather to keep the newly stuccoed 
area damp, at approximately 90 per cent humidity, 
for a period of 48 to 72 hours. 

• Stucco repairs, like most other exterior masonry 
work, should not be undertaken in cold weather 
(below 40 degrees fahrenheit, and preferably 
warmer), or if there is danger of frost. 

13 



14 

Historic Stucco Textures 

Most of the oldest stucco in the U.S. dating prior to 
the late-nineteenth century, will generally have a 
smooth, troweled finish (sometimes called a sand or 
float finish) , possibly scored to resemble ashlar ma
sonry units. Scoring may be incised to simulate ma
sonry joints, the scored lines may be emphasized by 
black or white penciling, or the lines may simply be 
drawn or painted on the surface of the stucco. In 
some regions, at least as early as the first decades of 
the nineteenth century, it was not uncommon to use 
a roughcast finish on the foundation or base of an 
otherwise smooth-surfaced building (Fig. a). Rough
cast was also used as all overall stucco finish for 
some outbuildings, and other less important types 
of structures . 

A wide variety of decorative surface textures may be 
found on revival style stucco buildings, particularly 
residential architecture. These styles evolved in the 
late-nineteenth century and peaked in popularity in 
the early decades of the twentieth century. Frank 
Lloyd Wright favored a smooth finish stucco, which 
was imitated on much of the Prairie style architec
ture inspired by his work. Some of the more pictur
esque surface textures include: English Cottage or 
English Cotswold finish; sponge finish (Fig. b); fan 
texture; adobe finish (Fig. c), and Spanish or Italian 

---

Fig. A Fig. B 

Fig . 0 Fig. E 

finish. Many of these finishes and countless other 
regional and personalized variations on them are 
still in use. 

The most common early-twentieth century stucco 
finishes are often found on bungalow-style houses, 
and include: spatter or spatterdash (sometimes 
called roughcast, harling, or wetdash), and pebble
dash or drydash. The spatterdash finish is applied 
by throwing the stucco mortar against the wall using 
a whisk broom or a stiff fiber brush, and it requires 
considerable skill on the part of the plasterer to 
achieve a consistently rough wall surface. The mor
tar used to obtain this texture is usually composed 
simply of a regular sand, lime, and cement mortar, 
although it may sometimes contain small pebbles or 
crushed stone aggregate, which replaces one-half 
the normal sand content. The pebbledash or dry
dash finish is accomplished manually by the plas
terer throwing or "dashing" dry pebbles (about 1/8" 
to 1/4" in size), onto a coat of stucco freshly applied 
by another plasterer. The pebbles must be thrown at 
the wall with a scoop with sufficient force and skill 
that they will stick to the stuccoed wall. A more 
even or uniform surface can be achieved by patting 
the stones down with a wooden float. This finish 
may also be created using a texturing machine (Figs . 
d-f illustrate 3 versions of this finish. Photos: 
National Park Service Files). 

Fig. C 

Fig. F 



Summary 

Stucco on historic buildings is especially vulnerable not 
only to the wear of time and exposure to the elements, 
but also at the hands of well-intentioned "restorers;' 
who may want to remove stucco from eighteenth and 
nineteenth century structures, to expose what they 
believe to be the original or more "historic" brick, 
stone or log underneath. Historic stucco is a character
defining feature and should be considered an impor
tant historic building material, significant in its own 
right. While many eighteenth and nineteenth century 
buildings were stuccoed at the time of construction, 
others were stuccoed later for reasons of fashion or 
practicality. As such, it is likely that this stucco has 
acquired significance over time, as part of the history 
and evolution of a building. Thus, even later, non
historic stucco should be retained in most instances; 
and similar logic dictates that new stucco should not be 
applied to a historic building that was not stuccoed 
previously. When repairing historic stucco, the new 
stucco should duplicate the old as closely as possible in 
strength, composition, color and texture . 

Mixes for Repair of Historic Stucco 

Historic stucco mixes varied a great deal region
ally, depending as they did on the availability of 
local materials. There are probably almost as 
many mixes that can be used for repair of historic 
stucco as there are historic stucco buildings. For 
this reason it is recommended that at least a rudi
mentary analysis of the existing historic stucco be 
carried out in order to determine its general pro
portions and primary ingredients . However, if 
this is not possible, or if test results are inconclu
sive, the following mixes are provided as refer
ence. Many of the publications listed under 
"Selected Reading" include a variety of stucco 
mixes and should also be consulted for additional 
guidance. 

Materials Specifications should conform to those 
contained in Preservation Briefs 2: Repainting Mortar 
Joints in Historic Brick Buildings, and are as follows : 
• Lime should conform to ASTM C-207, Type S, 

Hydrated Lime for Masonry Purpos~s. 
• Sand should conform to ASTM C-144 to assure 

proper gradation and freedom from impurities. 
Sand, or other type of aggregate, should match 
the original as closely as possible. 

• Cement should conform to ASTM C-lS0, Type 
II (white, non-staining), portland cement. 

• Water should be fresh, clean and potable . 
• If hair or fiber is used, it should be goat or cattle 

hair, or pure manilla fiber of good quality, 1/2" 
to 2" in length, clean, and free of dust, dirt, oil, 
grease or other impurities. 

• Rules to remember: More lime will make the 
mixture more plastic, but stucco mortar with a 
very large proportion of lime to sand is more 
likely to crack because of greater shrinkage; it is 
also weaker and slower to set. More sand or 
aggregate, will minimize shrinkage, but make 
the mixture harder to trowel smooth, and will 
weaken the mortar. 

Soft Lime Stucco (suitable for application to 
buildings dating from 1700-1850) 

A.f. Downing's Recipe for 50ft Lime Stucco 
1 part lime 
2 parts sand 
(A.J. Downing, "The Architecture of Country Houses," 1850) 

Vieux Carre Masonnj Maintenance Guidelines 
Base Coats (2): 
1 part by volume hydrated lime 
3 parts by volume aggregate [sand]-size to match original 
6 pounds/cubic yards hair or fiber 
Water to form a workable mix. 
Finish Coat: 
1 part by volume hydrated lime 
3 parts aggregate [sand]-size to match original 
Water to form a workable mix. 

Note: No portland cement is recommended in this mix, but if 
it is needed to increase the workabili ty of the mix and to de
crease the setting time, the amount of portland cement added 
should never exceed 1 part to 12 parts lime and sand. 
("Vieux Carre Masonry Maintenance Guidelines;' June, 1980.) 

"Materials for 50ft Brick Mortar and for 50ft Stucco" 
5 gallons hydrated lime 
10 gallons sand 
1 quart white, non-staining portland cement (1 cup only for 
pointing) 
Water to form a workable mix. 
(Koch and Wilson, Architects , New Orleans, Louisiana, Febru
ary, 1980) 

Mix f9r Repair of Traditional Natural Cement or Hy
draulic LIme Stucco 

part by volume hydrated lime 
2 parts by volume white portland cement 

3 parts by volume fine mason's sand 
If hydrauliC lime is available, it may be used instead of lime
cement blends. 
("Conservation Techniques for the Repair of Historical Orna
mental Exterior Stucco, January, 1990) 

Early-twentieth century Portland Cement Stucco 
1 part portland cement 
21 /2 parts sand 
Hydrated lime = to not more than 15% of the cement's vol
ume 
Water to form a workable mix. 
The same basic mix was used for all coats, but the finish coat 
generally contained more lime than the undercoats. (" lIIinois 
Preservation Series No.2: Stucco," January, 1980) 

American Portland Cement Stucco Specifications 
(c. 1929) 
Base Coats: 

5 pounds, dry, hydrated lime 

1 bag portland cement (94 lbs.) 
Not less than 3 cubic feet (3 bags) sand (passed through a IR 
screen) 
Water to make a workable mix. 
Finish Coat: 

Use WHITE portland cement in the mix in the same propor
tions as above. 
To color the stucco add not more than 10 pounds pigme nt for 
each bag of cement contained in the mix . 

15 



Selected Reading 

Ashurst , john, and Nicola Ashurst. Practical Building Conservatioll , 
[IISlisli Heritas" Tecllllical Halld/1ook, Volullle 3. Mortars, Plasters and 
l~elld('Ys. New York: Halsted Press, 1988. 

Conway, Brian D. Illinois Preservatiol1 Series Number 2: Stucco. 
Springfield, IL: lIIinois Department of Conservation, Division of 
Historic Sites, 1980. 

Grimmer, Anne E. Keeping it Cleal1: Removil1g Exterior Dirt, Pail1t, 
Stai ll s alld Graffiti from Historic Masol1nj Buildil1gs. Washington, 
D.C.: National Park Service, U.S . Department of the Interior, 1988. 

Hodgson, Frederick T. Plaster al1d Plasteril1g. Mortars al1d Cements, How 
to Make, ulld How to Use ... with An Illustrated Glossary of Terms. 
New York: The Industrial Publication Company, 1901. 

johnson, leRoy, jr. (editor). Handbook of Maintenance Techniques for 
Buildillg Conservation in the Strand Historic District, Galveston, Texas. 
(Revised edition originally published in 1980 as Preservation 
Maintenance Handbook, prepared by Michael Emrick, AlA, for the 
Galveston Historical Foundation.) Austin, TX: Texas Historical 
Co mmission, 1984. 

jowers , Walter. " Bungalow Building Materials: How to Repair 
Stucco." The Old-House Jou mal. Vol. XIII , No. 4 (May 1985), pp. 
80-83. 

MacDonald, Marylee. Preservation Briefs 21: Repairing Historic Flat 
Plaster-Walls and Ceilings . Washington, D.C.: National Park Service, 
U.S. Department of the Interior, 1989. 

Mack, Robert c. , AlA, de Teel Patterson Tiller, and James S. Askins. 
Preservation Briefs 2: Repointing Mortar Joints in Historic Brick 
Buildings. Washington, D.C.: National Park Service, U.S. 
Department of the Interior, 1980. 

McKee, Harley J., FAIA. Introduction to Early American Masonry-Stone, 
Brick, Mortar alld Plaster. Washington, D.C.: National Trust for 
Historic Preservation and Columbia University, 1973. 

Matero, Frank G., Mary Hardy, Antonio Rava and Joel Snodgrass. 
Conservation Techniques for the Repair of Historical Ornamental Exterior 
Stucco. (With a Case Study for the Repair of the Cabildo Pedimental 
Sculpture). Report prepared for the Division of Historic 
Preservation, Office of Cultural Development, Louisiana 
Department of Culture, Recreation and Development by The 
Center for Preservation Research, Columbia UniverSity, New York. 
january 1990. 

16 

Portland Cement Plaster (S tucco) Manual . Skokie, IL: Portland Cement 
Association, 1980. 

Van Den Branden, E, and Thomas L. Hartsell. Plastering Skills. 
Second edition. Homewood, IL: American Technical Publishers, 
Inc. , 1984. 

Vieux Carre Masonry Maintenance Guidelines. Revised from the initial 
report prepared by Mary L. Oehrlein in 1977. New Orleans, LA: 
Vieux Carre Commission, 1980. 

Whitewash & Coldwater Paints. Bulletin No. 304-G . Washington, D.C.: 
National Lime Association, 1955. 

Worsham, Gibson. "Exterior Plaster Restoration at the Lord Morton 
House, Lexington, Kentucky." Association for Preservation Technology 
Bulletin. Vol. XIII, No. 4 (1981), pp. 27-33. 

Acknowledgements 

The author gratefully acknowledges the technical expertise contributed to the 
preparation of this publication by Gilbert Wolf, National Plastering Industries; 
Walter Jowers; Brian Conway, Michigan Bureau of History; and master 
plasterer, Lawrence Ring, Sr. In addition, invaluable comments were provided 
by Michael Auer, Charles Fisher, Lauren Meier, Sharon Park, and Kay Weeks, 
professional staff of the Technical Preservation Services Branch, National Park 
Service; professional staff of the Cultural Resources program, Mid-Atlantic 
Regional Office, National Park Service; and S. Elizabeth Sasser of the 
Williamsport Preservation Training Center, National Park Service. 

This publication has been prepared pursuant to the National Historic 
Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, which directs the Secretary of the 
Interior to develop and make available information concerning historic 
properties. Comments on the usefulness of this publication may be directed to 
H. Ward Jandl, Chief, Technical Preservation Services Branch, Preservation 
Assistance Division, National Park Service, P.o. Box 37127, Washington, D.C. 
20013-7127. This publication is not copyrighted and can be reproduced without 
penalty. Normal procedures for credit to the author and the National Park 
Service are appreciated. 

October 1990 

Cover Photograph: St . James Church, Goose Creek, Berkeley 
County, South Carolina (1713-1719), is constructed of brick 
covered with stucco. Although much restored, it is notable 
for its ornamental stucco detailing, including rusticated 
quoins, cherub head "keystones" above the windows, flaming 
hearts, and a pelican in piety-symbol of the sacrament, in 
the pediment over the front door. Photo: Gary Hume. 


	Agenda Outline
	Item 4A - Attachment # 1 - May 11, 2016 RM minutes
	Item 4B - Attachment # 1 - May 18, 2016 Workshop
	Item 5B - Attachment # 1 - Proof2
	Item 5B - Attachment # 2 - Proof
	Item 5.D.1 - Staff Report
	Item 5.D.1 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100102 212 Vanderbilt Drive decision criteria
	Item 5.D.1 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Photos
	Item 5.D.1 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - Proposed Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.D.2 - Staff Report
	Item 5.D.2 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100100 404 S L St decision criteria
	Item 5.D.2 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Photographs
	Item 5.D.2 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2 - Photos of house and screen room
	Item 5.D.2 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.D.2 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 4 - Proposed Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.D.2 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 4 - Survey
	Item 5.E.2 - Staff Report
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 15-00100134 313 N Palmway Decision Criteria - RESTORE VERSION
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Photos
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 4 - REVISED Construction Drawings - Approved as Noted - 9-17-2015
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 5 - Proposed Door Information
	Item 5.E.2 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 5 - Proposed NOA
	Item 5.E.3 - Staff Report
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 1 - ATTACHMENT #1 - HRPB 14-00100132 402 North M Street - Sacred Heart - Decision Criteria - Revision
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment 2 - Architectural Plans
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 3 - HRPB 14-00100132 402-410 North M St
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - HRPB 14-01400006 402-410 North M St
	Item 5.E.3 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - HRPB 14-01400006 VAR 402-410 North M ST
	Item 5.G.1 - Staff Report
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100098 - 720 N Federal Hwy Decision Criteria - 3rd Hearing
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2a - Revised Submittal Photographs
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 2b - Application Photographs - reduced
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Resubmittal Information
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 4 - Window Diagram
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 5a - 1947 Building Drawings
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 7 - Attachment 5b - 1948 Church Drawings
	Item 5.G.1 - Attachment # 8 - Attachment 5c - 1973 Addition Drawings
	Item 5.G.2 - Staff Report
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100108 - 213 Fordham Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Photographs
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 4 - Proposed Windows
	Item 5.G.2 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 5 - Original Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.G.3 - Staff Report
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100132 - 822 South Palmway Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Photographs
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 4 - Proposed Windows
	Item 5.G.3 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 5 - Original Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.G.4 - Staff Report
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 1 - Attachment 1 - HRPB 16-00100101 - 1516 S Palmway Decision Criteria
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 2 - Attachment 2 - Photographs - reduced
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 3 - Attachment 3 - COA App
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 4 - Attachment 3 - Justification Statement
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 5 - Attachment 4 - Original Architectural Drawings
	Item 5.G.4 - Attachment # 6 - Attachment 5 - Preservation Brief #22 - Stucco

	Exterior Alterations roof windows doors etc: Off
	FenceWallGate: Off
	Sign: Off
	Addition: Off
	New Construction: Off
	Demolition: Off
	Relocation: Off
	Other: On
	Project Location: 1516 S Palmway, Lake Worth
	undefined: 086
	undefined_2: 0041
	Contributing: 
	What type: CBS
	Change of Use Proposed: no
	Total Estimated Cost of the Project: $0 if application approved
	Are you requesting consideration of Economic Hardship: 
	HRPB Project No: 
	Associated Project Nos: 
	Submittal Date: 
	Sufficiency Date: 
	Project Planner Assigned: 
	Total Fee Amount: 
	undefined_3: 
	undefined_4: 
	PAID: Off
	DUE: Off
	undefined_5: 
	Text1: seeking approval for existing stucco finish on house as being a "smooth 
	Text2: texture" as originally approved in COA#15-00100219. 
	Text3: Add 1 to Town of Lake Worth N1/2 of Lt4 & Lt 5 BLK 86
	Text4: 27
	Text5: 01
	Text6: South Palm Park
	Text7: 1
	Text8: residential


